Ana Luísa Ribeiro de Barros

Definition of a healthy dietary variety index in 4 years old children and its related factors

Porto, 2014

Dissertação de Mestrado em Saúde Pública apresentada à Faculdade de Medicina da Universidade do Porto sob orientação da Professora Doutora Andreia Oliveira

O presente trabalho foi efetuado no âmbito da coorte Geração XXI, desenvolvido no Departamento de Epidemiologia Clínica, Medicina Preditiva e Saúde Pública da Faculdade de Medicina do Porto e pelo Instituto de Saúde Pública da Universidade do Porto.

A sua concretização só foi possível com a participação das crianças e famílias que aceitaram este desafio, às quais agradecemos a sua disponibilidade.

O projeto contou com o apoio do Programa Operacional de Saúde-Saúde XXI, quadro de apoio comunitário III (co-financiado pelo FEDER), da Administração Regional de Saúde do Norte, da Fundação Calouste Gulbenkian e da Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia.

Os objetivos desta tese inserem-se no projeto de investigação financiado por Fundos FEDER através do Programa Operacional Fatores de Competitividade – COMPETE e por Fundos Nacionais através da FCT – Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia no âmbito do projeto PTDC/SAU-EPI/121532/2010.

Esta dissertação tem por base um manuscrito, no qual colaborei ativamente na operacionalização da hipótese, análise e interpretação dos dados e fui responsável pela redação das suas primeiras versões:

I. Association of child and family characteristics with a healthy dietary variety index in 4 years old children

AGRADECIMENTOS

Para a concretização deste trabalho tive a colaboração de várias pessoas às quais faço questão de fazer alguns agradecimentos.

À minha orientadora, Professora Doutora Andreia Oliveira, pelo profissionalismo, disponibilidade e por todos os ensinamentos.

Ao Professor Doutor Henrique Barros, por ter disponibilizado a informação recolhida no âmbito da coorte de nascimento Geração XXI.

A toda a equipa do projeto Geração XXI, que permitiu a recolha da informação para este trabalho.

Ao meu marido, por me incentivar a inscrever neste mestrado, acreditar sempre em mim e nunca me deixar desistir, obrigada por todo o amor.

Aos meus pais por fazerem tudo por mim e por darem uma ajudinha com as propinas.

À minha mana por me apoiar e ajudar a ver o lado positivo em tudo, o que me deu sempre muita força ao longo desta etapa e de toda a minha vida.

As minhas amigas do coração em especial à Teresa por todo o apoio, disponibilidade e ajuda não só na parte técnica mas também pelo incentivo e paciência para os meus desabafos. E à Helena pela ajudinha com o inglês.

Às minhas colegas de mestrado por tornarem este percurso mais fácil, em especial à Gabriela, Inês e Paula, pela interajuda e pelos almocinhos para descomprimir.

À minha patroa e amiga Tatiana Zanin pela disponibilidade com os horários.

Ao Maniche, o meu gato, pela companhia a qualquer hora enquanto escrevia este trabalho e por nunca me deixar sentir sozinha.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

List of Tables	vi
List of Abreviations	vii
RESUMO	1
ABSTRACT	5
INTRODUCTION	9
1. Importance of dietary variety since early childhood	10
2. Definition of dietary variety	12
3. Development of diet quality indices and variety scores	10
3.1. Dietary variety indices among children	16
3.2. Strengths and limitations of dietary variety indices used in children	19
4. Factors associated with dietary variety	20
AIMS	23
MANUSCRIPT	25
Association of child and family characteristics with a healthy dietary	
variety index in 4 years old children	26
CONCLUSIONS	49
Final Considerations	50
REFERENCES	51

LIST OF TABLES

Introduction

Manuscript

•	Table 1. Distribution of the Healthy Dietary Variety Index and its individual food
	groups in the Generation XXI sample (n=3962)44
•	Table 2. Descriptives of the child, mother and family characteristics and univariate
	associations with the Healthy Dietary Variety Index45
•	Table 3. Multivariate associations of the child, mother and family characteristics
	with the Healthy Dietary Variety Index47

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

- BMI Body Mass Index
- FAO Food and Agricultural Organization
- US United States
- VIT Variety Index Score
- WHO World Health Organization

RESUMO

Introdução

Com a prática de uma alimentação variada é mais fácil atingir as recomendações nutricionais, contudo a variedade alimentar nem sempre é considerada na definição de índices de qualidade alimentar construídos para os países desenvolvidos. Estudos de base populacional com informação de várias exposições, avaliadas a partir de uma abordagem prospetiva, em crianças de idade pré-escolar vai reforçar a identificação precoce dos determinantes da variedade alimentar e este conhecimento pode ser utilizado no desenvolvimento de estratégias de saúde pública adequadas.

Objetivo

O objetivo principal deste estudo é avaliar a variedade alimentar e os seus fatores associados em crianças de 4 anos de idade.

Métodos

Este estudo utiliza informação da coorte Geração XXI, uma coorte de nascimentos prospetiva de base populacional que reuniu 8647 recém-nascidos e 8495 mães em todas as maternidades públicas do Porto, Portugal, entre 2005 e 2006. As crianças foram reavaliadas em 2009-2011, quando apresentavam 4 anos de idade (86% de proporção de participação). Uma amostra final de 3962 participantes de 4 anos de idade foi considerada no presente estudo por apresentarem informação completa para todas as variáveis de interesse. O consumo alimentar foi avaliado através de um questionário qualitativo de frequência alimentar relativo aos 6 meses anteriores, respondido pelo cuidador principal. Com base no Variety Index for Toddlers, previamente descrito na literatura, foi construído um Indice de Variedade Alimentar Saudável, considerando variedade dentro e entre cinco grupos de alimentos: 1) alimentos ricos em hidratos de carbono (incluindo batatas); 2) fruta; 3) produtos hortícolas; 4) carne, peixe e derivados; e 5) lacticínios, e o número de porções recomendado no modelo do prato alimentar dos Estados Unidos. O índice pode variar de 0 a 1, sendo que 1 representa uma maior variedade alimentar dentro e entre os grupos de alimentos. A informação sobre as características das crianças (como características ao nascimento, estilos de vida e antropometria), bem como as características da mãe e da família (dados sociodemográficos, estilos de vida, parâmetros antropométricos, estrutura familiar e número de irmãos) foram recolhidas (ou medidas) por entrevistadores treinados. As associações entre estas características e a variedade alimentar da criança foram estimadas por modelos de regressão linear generalizados

(coeficientes β , intervalos de confiança a 95%, IC95%), ajustados para o sexo da criança e idade e escolaridade maternas.

Resultados

A pontuação média no Índice de Variedade Alimentar Saudável foi de 0.78 (desvio-padrão (DP)=0.11), com um mínimo de 0.25 e um máximo de 1. A pontuação média do índice foi maior nos grupos de alimentos carne, peixe e derivados (0.88, DP=0.13) e produtos hortícolas (0.83, DP=0.21). Em análise multivariada, as criancas que aos 4 anos de idade despendiam mais de 120 minutos por dia a ver televisão e a jogar jogos eletrónicos (β=-0.012 IC95%: -0.019; -0.004), que não praticam exercício físico regular (β =-0.022 IC95%: -0.029;-0.014), que apresentavam baixo peso (em comparação com as de peso normal: β =-0.081, IC95%: -0.130;-0.032) e que nunca foram amamentadas ou que o foram por um período inferior a 4 meses (vs. \geq 6 meses: β =-0.012, IC95%: -0.019;-0.005) apresentaram significativamente menor variedade alimentar. As crianças de mães menos escolarizadas (<9 vs. >12 anos: β=-0.052, IC95%: -0.061;-0.043 e 9-12 vs. >12 anos: β=-0.026, IC95%: -0.034;-0.018) e fisicamente menos ativas (β=-0.010 IC95%: -0.018;-0.001) também apresentaram menor variedade alimentar. Características familiares, como um menor número de irmãos (nenhum vs. \geq 2: β =-0.023, IC95%: -0.034;-0.011) e uma estrutura familiar com pai e mãe (em comparação com uma família monoparental: β =-0.010, IC95%: -0.021;-0.001) também influenciaram negativamente a variedade alimentar aos 4 anos de idade.

Conclusão

Este estudo mostra que as crianças de 4 anos estão a consumir uma variedade de alimentos saudáveis, como é recomendado. Uma menor variedade alimentar associou-se a um elevado número de horas despendidas a ver televisão e a jogar jogos eletrónicos, à ausência de uma prática regular de exercício físico, a um baixo peso e a um período de aleitamento materno nulo ou inferior a 4 meses. Crianças de mães menos escolarizadas e fisicamente menos ativas apresentaram igualmente menor variedade alimentar. Uma estrutura familiar tradicional, sem irmãos e a viver com ambos os pais aumentou a probabilidade de ter menos variedade alimentar aos 4 anos de idade.

Investigação futura deve ser conduzida para confirmar estes resultados, uma vez que não há estudo prévio em crianças a investigar a associação da variedade alimentar com um vasto leque de características da criança e da mãe e também de estrutura familiar. Além

disso, a maioria dos estudos não avalia especificamente a variedade alimentar, mas a qualidade da alimentação, que supomos estar diretamente relacionada com a variedade alimentar.

O índice de variedade utilizado neste estudo é interessante, não só do ponto de vista da investigação, mas tem potencial para ser utilizado também em saúde pública. No entanto, em trabalhos futuros é importante testar a validade e reprodutibilidade deste índice em diferentes contextos populacionais, para ter uma compreensão mais clara da sua utilidade bem como verificar a sua capacidade discriminatória e preditiva em diversos grupos de crianças.

Palavras-chave

Variedade alimentar; crianças; estudos de coorte; comportamentos em saúde.

ABSTRACT

Introduction

Diets with higher variety are more likely to meet nutrient recommendations, but dietary variety is not always considered by diet quality indexes defined for developed countries. Population-based research with information on a wide variety of factors, assessed from a prospective approach, in pre-school aged children will enhance the identification of early life determinants of dietary variety and this knowledge may be used in the development of appropriate public health strategies.

Objective

The main objective of this study is to assess dietary variety and its associated factors in 4 years old children.

Methods

This study uses data from Generation XXI, a prospective population-based birth cohort that gathered 8647 newborns and 8495 mothers in all public maternity units from Porto, Portugal, between 2005 and 2006. The entire cohort was re-evaluated in 2009-2011, when children were at 4 years (86% of participation rate). A final sample of 3962 participants at 4 years old had complete data for the current analyses. Dietary intake was assessed by a qualitative food frequency questionnaire covering the previous 6 months, answered by the main caregiver. A Healthy Dietary Variety Index was calculated based on the Variety Index for Toddlers, considering variety within and among five food groups: 1) starchy foods (including potatoes); 2) fruit; 3) vegetables; 4) meat, fish and alternatives; and 5) dairy foods, and the number of servings as recommended in the United States food plate model. The index could range from 0 to 1, with 1 representing a higher dietary variety within and among food groups. Information on child characteristics (from birth, lifestyles and anthropometrics), as well on mothers and family (socio-demographics, lifestyles, anthropometrics, family structure and siblings) were collected (or measured) by trained researchers. The associations between these characteristics and child's dietary variety were estimated by General Linear Models (β coefficients, 95% confidence intervals, 95%CI) adjusted for child's sex, mother's age and education.

Results

The mean score of the Healthy Dietary Variety Index was 0.78 (standard deviation (SD)=0.11) with a minimum of 0.25 and a maximum of 1. The mean scores were higher for the food groups meat, fish and alternatives (0.88, SD=0.13) and vegetables (0.83, SD=0.21). In multivariate analyses, children, at 4 years old, spending more than 120 minutes per day in media screening (β =-0.012, 95%CI: -0.019;-0.004), do not practicing regular physical exercise (β =-0.022, 95%CI: -0.029;-0.014), underweight (compared with normal weight: β =-0.081, 95%CI: -0.130;-0.032) and never breastfed or breastfed for less than 4 months (compared with ≥6 months: β = -0.012, 95%CI: -0.019;-0.005) had significantly lower dietary variety. Children from less educated mothers (<9 vs. >12 years: β =-0.052, 95%CI: -0.061;-0.043 and 9-12 vs. >12 years: β =-0.026, 95%CI: -0.034;-0.018) and less physically active mothers (β =-0.010, 95%CI: -0.018;-0.001) also presented less dietary variety. Family characteristics, such as a low number of siblings (none vs. ≥2: β =-0.023, 95%CI: -0.034;-0.011) and a two-parent family structure (compared with a single-parent family: β =-0.010, 95%CI: -0.021;-0.001) also influenced negatively the dietary variety at 4 years old.

Conclusion

This study shows that 4 years old children are consuming as wide variety healthy foods as is recommended. Less dietary variety was associated with high number of media screening, no regular practice of physical exercise, underweight and never breastfeeding or breastfeeding less than 4 months. Children from less educated and less physically active mothers presented less dietary variety. A traditional family structure with no siblings and living with both parents increased the probability of having less dietary variety at 4 years of age.

Future research should confirm our results, as there is no previous study investigating in children the association of dietary variety with a wide range of both child and mother's characteristics and also the family structure. Moreover, most studies do not evaluate dietary variety in specific, but dietary quality, which we assume to be directly related with dietary variety.

The variety index used in this study is interesting not only from the research point of view, but has also potential to be used in public health. However, for future research it is important to test the validity and reliability of this index in different population settings to have a clearer understanding of its utility alongside with its discriminatory and predictive abilities in diverse groups of children.

Keywords

Dietary variety; toddlers; Variety Index for Toddlers; cohort studies, health behaviour

INTRODUCTION

1. Importance of dietary variety since early childhood

Eating a variety of foods is essential to achieve adequate coverage of macro- and micronutrient needs (1). Dietary variety is related to the quality of the diet; diets with higher variety are more likely to meet nutritional recommendations than diets with limited variety within and among food groups (2, 3).

The concept of dietary variety is internationally recognized and the recommendation to eat a variety of foods has existed since the first edition of the Dietary Guidelines released by the United States (US) Department of Agriculture in 1980 (4). However, dietary variety is included in several recommendations specially after the International Conference on Nutrition in Rome in 1992, where a plan for action was adopted which called for the dissemination of nutrition information through sustainable food-based approaches that encourage dietary diversification through the production and consumption of micronutrientrich foods, including appropriate traditional foods (5). Following this, in 1996, the Food and Agricultural Organization (FAO) and the World Health Organization (WHO) of the United Nations published guidelines for the development of Food-Based Dietary Guidelines that should provide simple, food-based messages, relevant to the population and easy to follow like "eat a variety of foods each day" (6).

Increasing the variety of foods across and within food groups is internationally recommended by the WHO/FAO (6) because it is thought to ensure adequate intake of essential nutrients and to promote good health (7). Therefore, public health nutritionists have historically recommended variety or diversity in dietary patterns as one means of fostering an optimal diet. The underlying concept is that no single food contains all of the necessary nutrients and that variety from dietary sources is needed to ensure a balanced diet.

Lack of dietary variety is a particular severe problem among poor populations in the developing world, where diets are mainly based on starchy staples and often include few or no animal products and only seasonal fruit and vegetables (8). For vulnerable infants and young children, the problem is particularly critical because they need energy and nutrient-dense foods to grow healthy and develop both physically and mentally (8). For these reasons, dietary diversity is now included as a specific recommendation in the WHO updated guidance for complementary feeding of breastfed children aged 6 to 23 months (9).

The nutritional quality of infant's diets in developed countries is also a public health concern as many studies have reported that infants are not eating enough fruit and vegetables and that their diets are rich in energy-dense micronutrient poor foods (10-13).

Most children tend to eat the same kinds of foods repeatedly (14). This pattern of food consumption based on a narrow set of food choices has been related to an intake of some nutrients below recommendations (15). Thus, the nutrient density of the diet given to young children is often insufficient to meet their nutrient requirements, and increase the diversity of foods provided to young children, particularly meat, poultry, fish, eggs, fruit and vegetables, is recommended to improve micronutrients intake (9).

Furthermore, a low dietary variety has also been associated with low weight and stunted growth (16, 17), future cardiovascular risk (18, 19), dyslipidemia (20) and a higher probability of developing metabolic syndrome (21).

Dietary variety established in early life seems also to be a strong predictor of later dietary variety, indicating a tracking of dietary variety over a period covering early childhood until the beginning of adulthood (1).

During the first half of the first year of life, for optimal nutrition, a single food should be consumed, i.e. milk, preferably mother's milk (22). Breast milk carries a variety of flavours determined by the foods eaten by the mother, therefore infants exposed to breast milk may show greater readiness to try new foods in the complementary feeding period and this may shape their food choices in later life (23, 24). In the case of formula feeding, most formula have similar, rather bland flavours, making milk feeding a monotonous flavour experience (1).

Around the middle of the first year, solid foods are progressively introduced in the infant's diet (1). There is some evidence that infants weaned between 4-6 months have higher intake of fruit and vegetables in later childhood than those weaned later (25, 26) and that a greater exposure to fruit and vegetables and a higher variety in the first 2 years of life is positively associated with higher variety of fruit and vegetables at 6, 7 and 8 years of age (27). Furthermore, in an experimental study, infants were more willing to try new foods if they had been exposed to several types of vegetables rather than just one type (28).

At the end of the second year, behaviours such as food refusal, food neophobia or pickiness start to appear and the variety of food choices decreases (29). It has been shown that picky eaters have lower dietary variety and diversity scores than non-picky

11

eaters (30). As well, highly neophobic children have lower dietary variety and often fail to reach recommended intake levels for some nutrients (31).

After the third year of life, food behaviours tend to track over time, in particular the variety of the diet (1). In fact, dietary habits start being formed at the age of 3-4 years, and tend to become very resistant to change from the age of 11 years onward (32). In a sample of middleclass families with healthful dietary patterns, dietary variety in infancy has been associated with an increased acceptance of fruit and vegetables in later ages (27). Moreover, the consumption of fruit and vegetables during childhood is a predictor of their consumption in early adult life (33).

Thus, individual variations in dietary variety in childhood might originate from early differences in feeding experiences (1). Fortunately, the feeding behaviour is likely to adapt throughout life: repeated exposure can promote consumption of new foods at all ages (1), even in children with difficulties in accepting certain type of foods, such as vegetables (34).

2. Definition of dietary variety

Despite the well-recognized importance of dietary variety, there is still a lack of consensus about what dietary diversity or variety represents (7).

Different interpretations have been given to dietary variety. One interpretation of variety is that it represents the selection of foods from among major food groups, for example, choosing foods from among each of the Food Guide Pyramid food groups: grains, fruit, vegetables, dairy and meat (35). Another interpretation of variety is the selection of foods within food groups, for example, choosing different foods within each group of foods, such as selecting a wide variety of vegetables (35). A third interpretation relates to the type of foods in terms of health-promoting characteristics, for example, healthful variety implies a variety of recommended foods, whereas overall variety may include all types of foods, including foods high in calories, fat and sugar (36).

Additionally, dietary variety can be described as dietary variety, dietary diversity, food variety or food diversity, but the definition of these concepts is not well established. These terms often refer to the range of foods or food groups constituting the diet of a given individual, household or community and even though they imply a measure of diet quality, their use and measurement are not standardized across studies (37). In general, dietary

diversity or variety is a simple count of food items or food groups consumed by households or individuals over a certain time period (7).

Commonly, authors define the terminology used and its meaning in the introduction or when the methodology is described and its interpretation across the study depends on this (7, 38-41). In studies that used dietary diversity and food variety, generally, dietary diversity represents variety between food groups and food variety represents variety within food groups, as can be also found in the review from Arvaniti *et al* (42). However, in other studies a different meaning for dietary diversity can be found, representing the number of foods consumed across and within food groups over a specific period (7). Therefore, in this study, the term dietary variety will be preferred (instead of dietary diversity) and includes the whole range of terms that variety implies.

3. Development of diet quality indices and variety scores

Diet is a complex exposure variable, which calls for multiple approaches to summarize its effects, evaluate its determinants and examine the relationship with the disease risk (43). Dietary variety indices and scores are frequently described in the literature as a way of defining dietary patterns (42-44). This type of methodological approach will certainly not replace single nutrient or food analysis, but instead serves as a complementary approach to more traditional analysis (43). In fact, analysing food consumption as dietary patterns offers a different perspective from the traditional single nutrient approach, and may provide a comprehensive approach to disease prevention or treatment (43). It has been described that particular combinations of foods as described by dietary patterns may be more strongly related to health and disease than individual foods or nutrients (45) and that dietary preferences may be more consistent over time than consumption of individual foods (45). Moreover, studying dietary patterns could have important public health implications because the overall patterns of dietary intake might be easy for the public to interpret or translate into diets (43).

The traditional analyses in nutritional epidemiology that focus in a nutrient or few nutrients or foods have several conceptual and methodological limitations:

People do not eat isolated nutrients (43);

- There is a high level of inter-correlation among some nutrients which makes difficult to examine their separate effects, because the degree of independent variation of the nutrients is markedly reduced when they are entered into a model simultaneously (46);
- The effect of a single nutrient may be too small to be detected, but the cumulative effects of multiple nutrients included in a dietary pattern may be sufficiently large to be detectable (47);
- Analyses based on a large number of nutrients or food items may produce statistically significant associations simply by chance (48);
- Nutrient intake is commonly associated with certain dietary patterns, and thus the single nutrient analysis may potentially be confounded by the overall effect of a dietary pattern (43).

The methodology for defining dietary patterns is relatively new compared with other techniques and is still in development (43). A number of data-reduction methods have been used; whole-of-diet analysis has taken *a priori* and *a posteriori* approaches (43, 45). Dietary patterns methods are either data driven, through principal component analysis, factor analysis or cluster analysis, among other, or determined *a priori* by the investigator, by defining dietary indices or scores (43, 45). *A priori* methods involve the assessment of food intake data against a dietary index, which is determined prior to analysis and usually reflects dietary guidelines or current nutrition knowledge. *A posterior* or data-driven techniques examine foods that are often consumed together to arrive at a dietary pattern score or to a group of individuals who consume similar types of foods (43). In general, four approaches are specially used in the literature; the first two refers to *a posteriori* methods and the latter two to *a priori* methods:

- Factor analysis is a multivariate statistical technique, which uses information reported on food frequency questionnaires or in dietary records to identify common underlying dimension (factors or patterns) of food consumption (43).
- Cluster analysis is another multivariate method that aggregates individuals into relatively homogeneous subgroups (clusters) with similar diets (43).
- Dietary scores generally count the number or frequency of foods consumed that are considered by the investigator to promote health (or disease) (45).
- Dietary indices are summary measures of the degree to which an individual's diet conforms to specific dietary recommendations (45).

In the last years, several new indices have been developed based on general national or international dietary guidelines or guidelines for the prevention of a specific disease (44). Many indices have been determined; some of them are very simple while others are much more complex. In some cases these indices add quantitative elements to qualitative aspects, while others are based on thresholds or dietary recommendations (42).

Although all these indices aim to show the overall quality of diet, and to provide a holistic tool for the ascertainment of dietary habits on human health, they often focus on specific food features, depending on the contexts and objectives of their usage (42).

The large number and the diversity of the indices proposed in the literature led Kant to classify them into three categories as a function of their determination mode: i) indices that are based on intake of nutrients; ii) indices that are based on the consumption of specific foods or food groups; iii) indices that combine both approaches (49).

In developed countries, indices are often composed of several dimensions such as nutrient adequacy, dietary diversity, proportionality (more of some foods groups and less of others) and moderation (limiting the intake of food constitutions to excess risk) (50). Some of the most commonly indices or scores used are the Healthy Eating Index, the Canadian Healthy Eating Index, the Australian Healthy Eating Index, the Alternative Healthy Eating Index, the Dietary Guideline Index, the Diet Quality Index, the Dietary Quality Score, the Diet Quality Index Revised, the Diet Quality Index-International, the Healthy Food Index, the Heart Disease Prevention Eating Index, the Dietary Guidelines Index, the Mediterranean Diet Quality Index and the Mediterranean Score (42, 44).The most common measures that include variety as a component are the Diet Quality Index Revised and the Healthy Eating Index (51).

Various scores have been also developed based on the concept of food variety or diversity (44). The two scores more often described seem to be the Dietary Diversity Score, a count of food groups (52), and the Food Variety Score, a simple count of food items (52). Both types of scores have been used in several studies, trying to answer the question whether it is better to determine scores from food items (Food Variety Score) or from food groups (Dietary Diversity Score) (42).

3.1. Dietary variety indices among children

The assessment of children's diets has traditionally focused on energy and the nutrient composition of the diet (14, 15) rather than on the variety of dietary choices or the patterns of food selection (51). However, food-based analyses of the total diet are becoming increasingly more prominent in nutrition research, and the use of diet quality indices in paediatric populations is increasing internationally in highly diverse populations (53).

Two reviews had explored diet quality measures used in the paediatric population from developed countries only. The review conducted by Smithers et al. concluded that the use and application of diet quality indices, especially in regard to weight status in developed nations, had not been fully explored (54). The review by Lazarou & Newby also concluded that further research is required to gain a better understanding of paediatric diet quality and health-related outcomes (55). Because of that, Marshall et al. developed a review that summarizes all paediatric diet quality indices and scores published up to October 2013, that expands the information presented in these reviews by incorporating populations from developing countries and additional studies published after 2010, as well as providing a more systematic summary of the diet quality indices' attributes and uses (53).

According to data presented in this review, continental trends were observed in the type of scoring method used in the paediatric population. Diet quality indices developed in Europe were predominantly food-based, and include a number of simpler dietary variety or dietary diversity scores. Alternatively, North American derived dietary quality indices were largely food- and nutrient-based scores requiring nutrient analysis for calculation. In addition, the dietary methods and scoring for dietary quality indices in developing nations were found to be more simplistic compared to developed nations overall (53). This may be because application in these countries needs to be less time and resource intensive as a result of the fieldwork settings, and applicable to population where food is often shared communally (52).

Although an index is often developed for a specific population, many have been used in diverse populations, with or without modifications (53). For example, several modifications to the Healthy Eating Index subscales were made for culturally diverse populations and specific geographic locations, including Brazil (56, 57), Spain (58) and for Native Hawaiians in the USA (59). In addition, many of the indices have been updated or used as modified versions, for example the Diet Quality Index-International (DQI-I) (60) and the Mediterranean DQI-I (61) were adapted from the original Diet Quality Index (62), whereas

the Revised Children's Diet Quality Index (63) was updated from the Children's Diet Quality Index (64). Based on the Marshall et al. review (53), table 1 summarizes the diet quality indices or scores that have been designed for use in paediatric populations.

Table 1 – Diet quality indices or scores, designed for use in paediatric populations, based on Marshall et al. review (53).

Diet Quality Indices or Scores	Country of origin	Age group
Healthy Eating Index (HEI)	USA*	>=2 years
Healthy Eating Index – 1995 (HEI-2005)	USA	2-18 years
Canadian Healthy Eating Index (HEI-C)	Canada	>= 3 years
Canadian Healthy Eating Index – 2009 (HEIC-2009)	Canada	>= 3 years
Children's Diet Quality Index (C-DQI)	USA	2-5 years
Revised Children's Diet Quality Index (RC- DQI)	USA	2-18 years
Variety Index for Toddlers (VIT)	USA	Toddlers
Nutrient Rich Foods (NRF)	USA	4 years - adult
Food Variety (FV) Score	USA	Children
Diet Quality Index for Preschool Children (DQI-CH)	Belgium	2-6 years
Complementary Feeding Utility Index (CFUI)	England	Infants and toddlers
Healthy Nutrition Score for Kids and Youth (HuSKY)	Germany	3-17 years
Indicator Food Index (IFI)	Germany	Children and adolescents
Diet Quality Score	Germany	Children
Preschool Diet-Lifestyle Index (PDL-Index)	Greece	2-5 years
Diet Quality Score	Scotland	2-5 years
Australian Child and Adolescent Recommended Food Score (ACARFS)	Australia	6-14 years
Core Food Variety Score (CFVS)	Australia	Toddlers
Fruit and Vegetable Variety Score (FVVS)	Australia	Toddlers
Obesity Protective Dietary Index (OPDI)	Australia	Infants
Dietary Diversity Score (DDS)	Philippines	Non-breastfeed infants
Dietary Diversity Score 10 g (DDS 10 g)	Philippines	Non-breastfeed infants
Food Variety Score (FVS)	Cambodia	Infants and toddlers
Dietary Diversity Score (DDS)	Bangladesh	< 5 years
Dietary Diversity Score (DDS)	Iran	>= 10 years
Infants and Child Feeding Index (ICFI)	Design in USA for use in Latin American	6-36 months
Dietary Diversity Indicator	Design in USA for use in Southeast Asian, Latin America and Africa	Infants
Food Diversity Index (FDI)	Bolivia	Pediatric and adults
Traditional Food Diversity Score (TFDS)	Peru	Pediatric and adults
1 and 3 day Food Variety Score (FVS)	Guatemala	Infants
USAID Dietary Diversity Score (DDS)	Guatemala	Infants
Cooking Pot Dietary Diversity Score (DDS)	Guatemala	Infants
INCAP Papers Dietary Diversity Score (DDS)	Guatemala	Infants

Table 1. Continuation – Diet quality indices or scores, designed for use in paediatric populations, based on Marshall et al. review (53).

Diet Quality Indices or Scores	Country of origin	Age group
Dietary Diversity Score (DDS8)	Madagascar	Infants aged >=6 months
Dietary Diversity Score (DDS8-R)	Madagascar	Infants aged >=6 months
Dietary Diversity Score (DDS7)	Madagascar	Infants aged >=6 months
Dietary Diversity Score (DDS7-R)	Madagascar	Infants aged >=6 months
Dietary Diversity Score (DDS)	South Africa	Infants aged >=6 months
Dietary Diversity Score (DDS)	Design in Norway to be use in economically poor countries, such as Mali	13-58 months
Food Variety Score (FVS)	Design in Norway to be use in economically poor countries	>=13 months to adults
Dietary Diversity Score (DDS)	South Africa	1-8 years
Food Variety Score (FVS)	South Africa	1-8 years
Dietary Diversity Index (DDI)	Senegal	Infants and toddlers
Food Variety Index (FVI)	Senegal	Infants and toddlers

*USA: United States of America

From the 80 indices or scores presented in this review (53), 44 were designed to be used in children. From these 44 studies, 20 were created to be used in paediatric populations from developed countries and 24 from developing countries. In developing countries, only one index was not exclusively designed to represent dietary variety but included dietary variety as one item of the diet quality index (65). In developed countries, 4 indices are specific dietary variety indices and 16 are dietary quality indices (53). From these 16 dietary quality indices, 5 included dietary variety (66-69).

Cox et al. developed a variety index specific to toddlers, the Variety Index for Toddlers (VIT) (70). This index results from an effort to create a variety index as a component of the Healthy Eating Index (50). The VIT assesses variety within and among food groups based on the number of servings from the food groups in the Food Guide Pyramid and also reflects dietary adequacy (70). The VIT can be potentially adapted to other age groups and populations by adjusting the serving sizes and the number of recommended servings per day (70).

Many potential applications exist for the VIT, as reported by Cox, et al.:

- In nutrition education as a tool for teaching nutrition students a more concrete concept of variety diet;
- In research for tracking changes in dietary variety over time or for comparison with growth parameters or socioeconomic factors;

- In clinical and community settings for teaching the importance of dietary variety to individuals;
- In industry for tracking market trends from the component food group scores or for measuring the impact of certain foods on the overall diet (70).

Dietary indices are useful tools for dietary assessment, but prospective and intervention research in diverse populations and additional validation studies are needed to strengthen the utility of these tools in understanding dietary quality in children and in showing associations with meaningful health outcomes (55).

3.2. Strengths and limitations of dietary indices used in children

According to the Lazarou et al. review (55) dietary indices used in children have some strengths and limitations. The four overall strengths include the following: 1) the ability to translate successfully a set of dietary guidelines or evidence into a single, comprehensible assessment tool that reflects adherence to a healthful diet prototype; 2) indices are associated with a wide variety of dietary characteristics; 3) indices are associated with important socio-demographic characteristics; and 4) indices are associated with some meaningful health outcomes (55).

On the other hand, the limitations of dietary quality indices are: 1) there is a large variety of indices used in the literature, with relatively few studies within any given age group; 2) the quality of the primary dietary assessment tools used to driven the dietary indices (e.g. food frequency questionnaire, food record) varies considerably, making comparisons across studies difficult; 3) most results are from descriptive analyses and most analytic studies showed weak associations, with limited if any adjustment for potential confounders; 4) only a handful of studies compared different indices to determine which was better associated with a given outcome, thus, it is unclear which indices are better than others; 5) only two validation studies were performed (55).

The application of more robust methods to create indices and more rigorous methods to measure discriminative power may increase the content validity of those tools (55). Those methods may include: 1) applying specific weights to each component scale of the index on the basis of relative importance (71-73); 2) grouping index components according to the domain of the dietary behaviour they assess (e.g. diet composition, beliefs, behaviours)

(74); 3) conducting proper statistical tests to evaluate the discriminating characteristics and abilities of the index, such as sensitivity, specificity, c-statistic values, positive/negative predictive values, and others (55); and 4) performing additional tests beyond multivariate regression analysis to reveal any potential heterogeneity in the index performance (74) including latent class analysis (74, 75), structural equation modelling (76) and data mining (77).

In addition, it is necessary to validate a study, use a superior method for comparison rather than relying upon the same dietary assessment method, as it has been done in the vast majority of the studies in the Lazarou et al. review (55). Optimally, validation of dietary assessment tools should be evaluated with methods having uncorrelated errors, ideally nutritional biomarkers and/or a more accurate, gold standard method of self-report dietary assessment such as food records (78, 79). Comparison with a superior dietary assessment method, such as multiple days of food records, may be more feasible and would also provide greater confidence in the soundness of these indices (55).

4. Factors associated with dietary variety

An examination of all reported paediatric diet quality indices, including those in both developed and developing nations, their association with health-related outcomes, and a thorough exploration of factors associated with diet quality in children remains incomplete (53).

According to a systematic review, diet quality indices in children and adolescents have been frequently associated with weight status, followed by height/length (53). In developing nations, where a risk of under-nutrition rather than over-nutrition is the major concern, several studies have been consistently associated dietary variety with a better nutritional status and growth (8, 16, 41, 80-82) as well as a good indicator of nutritional adequacy (17, 52, 83, 84). However, associations with weight status in populations at risk of over-nutrition have been inconsistent with studies finding both negative and positive associations (53).

In the majority of the studies in developed countries, higher diet quality scores were associated with more favourable nutrient and food intake, more healthful dietary behaviours, lower chronic diseases risk factors and fewer asthma-related conditions among children (55). In addition, significant associations between diet quality indices and various socio-demographic variables, including sex, age, race/ethnicity, income, parental education, socio-economic status, place of living and marital status of parents were reported previously (85-92). Some of these associations were also find in developing countries especially with maternal education (82, 93, 94) and number of children in the family (93). The description of some of these and other studies are described below.

In children and adolescents, a better overall dietary quality has been found among girls than boys (85, 86).

In a study among 4 to 16 years old children from a developed country, dietary quality in children was positively associated with household income (91). However, it was not found a relationship between dietary variety and food insecurity or insufficiency in a cross-sectional study in children from the US (87). In developing countries, it is often suggested that the household-level dietary diversity is strongly positively associated with household per capita income and energy availability, suggesting that dietary diversity could be a useful indicator of food security (7, 41). However, in mother-child from 6-24 months in Bangladesh, Vietnam and Ethiopia, food security and socioeconomic status were not significantly associated with dietary diversity, including the maternal dietary diversity in the model (93).

A better maternal education has been also associated with a better dietary diversity in children in developed (88) and developing countries (82, 93, 94) as well as higher maternal age and education with a healthier dietary pattern of toddlers and preschool children from developed countries (89, 90).

Another factor that has been related with dietary diversity in developed countries is the duration of breastfeeding. A positive modest association between breastfeeding duration and food variety was found in 2 year old children, independently of maternal demographic characteristics known to predict dietary quality in children (88). In addition, fruit variety in the school-aged child was predicted by breastfeeding duration in a North American study (27).

Furthermore, other factors have been associated with dietary quality in developed countries. In a Norwegian study, mothers who were daily smokers and had higher Body Mass Index (BMI) were more likely to have children with an 'unhealthy' diet (89). In addition, in a study developed in Finland, a lower dietary quality was associated with smoking during pregnancy among 6-years-old children (95).

Factors related with family characteristics, such as the number of siblings and the family structure have been also related with diet quality. Dietary variety was inversely associated

with the number and presence of older siblings (88), the same kind of association was found with diet quality (90, 91). In developing countries an association of dietary variety with a lower number of children in the family were also found (93). A family structure composed by two parents (91, 92) was associated with better diet quality.

Lifestyles characteristics, such as sedentary behaviours in children, appear to be associated with elements of a less healthy diet, as reported in a systematic review (96). Eating while watching TV negatively affected the consumption of fruits and vegetables and overall diet quality in a study with children aged 10-11 years old (97). In addition, lower TV-viewing time was associated with higher scores in the Healthy Heating Index-2005 (i.e., healthier diet) in children and adults (98). Dietary quality was also associated with physical activity practice (99, 100).

Overall, although some studies have been conducted to examine factors responsible for diet quality, just one examined factors responsible for dietary diversity in developed countries (88). Population-based research with information on a wide variety of factors, assessed from a prospective approach, in preschool-aged children will enhance the identification of early life determinants of dietary variety and this knowledge may be used in the development of appropriate public health strategies.

AIMS

The aims of this study are:

- To assess dietary variety in preschool-aged children, by defining a Healthy Dietary Variety Index based on the Variety Index for Toddlers (VIT).
- To evaluate the association of child, mother and family characteristics with less dietary variety in 4 years old children.

MANUSCRIPT

Association of child and family characteristics with a healthy dietary variety index in 4 years old children

[To be submitted]

Association of child and family characteristics with a healthy dietary variety index in 4 years old children

Ana Luísa Barros¹, Carla Lopes^{1, 2}, Andreia Oliveira^{1, 2}

¹ Institute of Public Health, University of Porto, Portugal

² Department of Clinical Epidemiology, Predictive Medicine and Public Health, University of Porto Medical School, Portugal

Corresponding author:

Andreia Oliveira Institute of Public Health, University of Porto, Porto, Portugal Address: Rua das Taipas, nº 135 4050-600 Porto Phone: +351 22 2061820 E-mail: acmatos@med.up.pt

Funding: Generation XXI was funded by Programa Operacional de Saúde – Saúde XXI, Quadro Comunitário de Apoio III and by Administração Regional de Saúde Norte. For follow-up assessments Generation XXI received funding from Fundação para a Ciência e a Tecnologia, co-funded by FEDER through COMPETE and from Fundação Calouste Gulbenkian. The specific objective of this study was supported by Fundação para a Ciência e a Tecnologia under the project PTDC/SAU-EPI/121532/2010.

ABSTRACT

Introduction: Diets with higher variety are more likely to meet nutrient recommendations, but dietary variety is not always considered by diet quality indexes defined for developed countries.

Objective: The main objective of this study is to assess dietary variety and its associated factors in 4 years old children.

Methods: This study uses data from Generation XXI, a prospective population-based birth cohort that gathered 8647 newborns and 8495 mothers in all public maternity units from Porto, Portugal, between 2005 and 2006. At 4 years, 86% of children were re-evaluated. Data were collected by trained researchers in face-to-face interviews. Dietary intake was assessed by a qualitative food frequency questionnaire covering the previous 6 months, answered by the main caregiver. A Healthy Dietary Variety Index was calculated based on the Variety Index for Toddlers, considering variety within and among five food groups, and associated with mother, child and family characteristics by General Linear Models (β coefficients, 95% confidence intervals, 95%CI) adjusted for child's sex, mother's age and education. A final sample of 3962 participants at 4 years old had complete data for the current analyses.

Results: The mean score of the Healthy Dietary Variety Index was 0.78 (standard deviation (SD)=0.11) with a minimum of 0.25 and a maximum of 1. In multivariate analyses, children, at 4 years old, spending more than 120 minutes per day in media screening (β =-0.012, 95%CI: -0.019;-0.004), do not practicing regular physical exercise (β =-0.022, 95%CI: -0.029;-0.014), underweight (compared with normal weight: β =-0.081, 95%CI: -0.130;-0.032) and never breastfed or breastfed for less than 4 months (compared with ≥6 months: β = -0.012, 95%CI: -0.019;-0.005) had significantly lower dietary variety. Children from less educated mothers (<9 vs. >12 years: β =-0.052, 95%CI: -0.061;-0.043 and 9-12 vs. >12 years: β =-0.026, 95%CI: -0.034;-0.018) and less physically active mothers (β =-0.010, 95%CI: -0.018;-0.001) also presented less dietary variety. Family characteristics, such as a low number of siblings (none vs. ≥2: β =-0.023, 95%CI: -0.034;-0.011) and a two-parent family structure (compared with a single-parent family: β =-0.010, 95%CI: -0.021;-0.001) also influenced negatively the dietary variety at 4 years old.

Conclusion: This study shows that 4 years old children are consuming as wide variety healthy foods as is recommended. Less dietary variety was associated with high number of media screening, no regular practice of physical exercise, underweight and never

breastfeeding or breastfeeding for less than 4 months. Children from less educated and less physically active mothers presented less dietary variety. A traditional family structure with no siblings and living with both parents increased the probability of having less dietary variety at 4 years of age.

Keywords: Dietary variety; toddlers; Variety Index for Toddlers; cohort studies; health behaviour

INTRODUCTION

Eating a variety of foods is essential to achieve adequate coverage of macro- and micronutrient needs (1). Dietary variety is related to the quality of the diet; diets with higher variety are more likely to meet nutrient recommendations than diets with limited variety within and among food groups (2, 3).

Individual variations in dietary variety during childhood might originate from differences in early feeding experiences (4). Dietary variety established in early life seems also to be a strong predictor of later dietary variety, indicating a tracking of dietary variety over a period covering early childhood until the beginning of adulthood (1). Fortunately, the feeding behaviour is likely to adapt throughout life: repeated exposure can promote the consumption of new foods at all ages and dietary variety established in early life seems to track over a period covering early childhood until the beginning of adulthood (1).

The nutritional quality of infant's diets is a public health concern as many studies have reported that infants are not eating enough fruit and vegetables (5) and that their diets are rich in energy-dense micronutrient poor foods (6-9). The assessment of diet during childhood has traditionally focused on the role of specific nutrients or foods (10), rather than on the variety of dietary choices or the patterns of food selection (11). However, foodbased analyses of the total diet effects are becoming increasingly more prominent in nutrition research (12) and the use of dietary quality indices and scores in the paediatric population is increasing internationally in different population settings (13). In a review, Marshall et al. summarizes dietary quality indices and scores, their attributes and uses (13). According to this review, only a quarter of these indices were designed to be used in children from developed countries. In fact, experience from developed countries in measuring dietary variety prospers, but measurement approaches, indicators and validation methods differ widely between studies (14). Cox et al. developed a variety index based on the United States (US) Food Guide Pyramid that provides a numeric description of dietary variety specific to toddlers, indicative of dietary adequacy, and many potential applications have been described for its use (15).

Significant associations between diet quality indices and various socio-demographic variables, including sex, age, race/ethnicity, income, parental education, socio-economic status, place of living and marital status of parents were reported previously in developed countries (16-19). Additionally, other factors such as longer breastfeeding duration (4, 16); family characteristics such as a lower number of siblings (16, 18, 19), and a family

29

structure of two parents (18); child's lifestyles, such as lower TV-viewing time (20, 21) and physical activity practice (22, 23) have been associated with high diet quality in children. On the other hand, a better diet quality in children was inversely associated with Body Mass Index (BMI) of the mother (17) and smoking during pregnancy (24).

Overall, although some studies have been conducted to examine factors responsible for diet quality in children, just one examined factors responsible for food variety in developed countries (16). Population-based research with information on a wide variety of factors, assessed from a prospective approach, in pre-school aged children will enhance the identification of early life determinants of dietary variety and this knowledge may be used in the development of appropriate public health strategies.

The main objective of this study is to assess dietary variety and its associated factors in 4 years old children.

PARTICIPANTS AND METHODS

This study uses data from Generation XXI, a prospective population-based birth cohort, previously described elsewhere (25). Generation XXI gathered newborns and their mothers, recruited in all public maternity units from Porto, Portugal, between April 2005 and August 2006. A total of 8647 children and 8495 mothers were enrolled at baseline. Of the invited mothers, 91.4% agreed to participate. During the first 24 to 72 hours after delivery, trained interviewers collected data on demographic and social conditions, lifestyles, medical history and prenatal care. Birth data was retrieved from medical records by trained researchers.

The entire cohort was re-evaluated between April 2009 and April 2011, when children were at 4 years, and 86% of all children were re-evaluated (70% by face-to-face interviews). Data on demographics and social conditions, lifestyles, sleeping habits and medical care were collected by trained interviewers. Anthropometrics (weight, height and waist circumference) and body composition, by tetra-polar bioelectric impedance, were also measured. Parents provided reports on children's dietary intake (3-day food records and a list of food frequencies of consumption).

For the present analysis, only one of a pair of twins was randomly included. Participants, who had no information for the Healthy Dietary Variety Index and the main variables of interest, were excluded. Thus, the final sample included 3962 participants. We compared characteristics of the present study sample (n=3962) with the remaining cohort (n=4685) at baseline, and no significant differences were found for child's sex (51.5% vs. 50.6% of boys, p=0.390). However, significant differences were found for maternal age and education. Mothers in this study were slightly older (mean=29.8 years; standard deviation (SD)=5.25 vs. mean=28.3; SD=5.78, p<0.001) and more educated (mean=11.2 years; SD=4.29 vs. mean=9.8 years; SD=4.14, p<0.001) than mothers in the remaining cohort. The Cohen's effect size values were lower than 0.35, suggesting that the magnitude of the differences was not high (i.e. differences were at most part due to the large sample size than due to large differences between participant's characteristics) (26).

The study was conducted according to the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki and all procedures were approved by the Ethics Committee of the Hospital de São João and the Portuguese Authority of Data Protection. Parents or legal tutors of each participant signed a consent form.

Dietary data (the Healthy Dietary Variety Index)

The main caregivers (usually mothers) were asked to answer a 35-item food frequency questionnaire (FFQ) on child's diet over the previous 6 months. The FFQ includes 3 items of starchy foods, 1 item of fruits, 3 items of vegetables, 5 items of meat, fish and alternatives, 5 items of dairy foods, 6 items of sweets/candy foods, 3 items of energy-dense foods, 1 item of butter/margarine, 3 items of non-sweet beverages and 5 items of sweet beverages. Nine response categories were available, varying between never and 4 or more times per day.

In a sub-sample of approximately 2500 children, 3-day food records were also completed, and correlations between key food groups measured by the FFQ and food diaries were calculated to assess the validity of the FFQ. Pearson's coefficients showed a weak-to-moderate positive correlation for most food groups (results not showed).

In this study, a Healthy Dietary Variety Index was calculated based on the Variety Index for Toddlers (VIT) developed by Cox et al (15). To develop the Healthy Dietary Variety Index, the FFQ data, the food groups and the number of servings as recommended in the food plate model (former pyramid model) based on healthy eating guidelines promoted by the U.S. Department of Agriculture were used. To calculate this index the following steps were considered:

i) Calculation of the daily number of servings of each food item based in the frequencies obtained in the FFQ.

ii) Allocation of the food items to one of five food groups: 1) starchy foods (including potatoes); 2) fruit; 3) vegetables; 4) meat, fish and alternatives; and 5) dairy foods.

iii) Application of truncations to ensure variety within food groups. A contribution of a food item was truncated at 33% within each food group. Foods within a food group which are extremely similar (e.g. yoghurts without sugar and sweetened yoghurts) were grouped together and counted as a single food so that they do not contribute more than 33%. The number of servings for each food group was complete after the groupings and truncations were applied. It was not possible to assess variety within fruit and vegetables due to limited questions of the FFQ. For fruit and vegetables, the index instead reflects whether or not the children ate the recommended number of servings.

iv) Calculation of the food group index by dividing the total number of servings by the recommended number of servings per day for each food group. The following recommended number of servings was used: starchy foods = 7, fruit = 2, vegetables = 3, meat, fish and alternatives = 2 and dairy foods = 3.

v) Application of another truncation to ensure variety between the food groups. Each food group score was truncated at 1.00 (e.g. if a child ate a serving of 3 different types of meat, fish and alternatives, each day this is divided by 2 thus giving a potential score of 1.5 which is truncated to 1.00). This means that a high intake of one food group cannot compensate mathematically for a low intake in another food group, thus ensuring variety across the food groups.

vi) Calculation of the final Healthy Dietary Variety Index. It is the sum of the five group indices divided by 5; the index could range from 0 to 1, with 1 representing a higher dietary variety within and among food groups.

Child, mother and family characteristics

Birth characteristics were retrieved from medical records, such as the type of delivery (vaginal or caesarean), gestational age and birth weight. Weight for gestational age were defined according to sex-specific population-based Kramer growth standards (27); small for gestational age and large for gestational age were defined as below the 10th and above the 90th percentile, respectively; appropriate for gestational age was deemed to be within these thresholds. These standards refer only for single births.

Child's characteristics, such as child's sex was collected at baseline. Other characteristics such as physical activity (defined as the regular practice of physical exercise), the number of media screening hours (subdivided in less or 120 minutes or

more per day) and breastfeeding duration (recoded into never or less than 4 months, between 4 and 5 months, 6 months or more) were assessed based on information collected at 4 years. Anthropometric data on weight and height were also obtained by trained researchers. Weight was measured in light clothing and without shoes using a digital scale and was recorded to the nearest 0.1 kg. Height was measured as the distance from the top of the head to the bottom of the feet without shoes using a fixed stadiometer to the nearest 0.1 cm. The BMI was calculated as the weight (kg) over the squared height (m). Each child was then classified according to the age- and sex-specific BMI reference z-scores developed by the World Health Organization (28), and recoded into underweight or normal weight (BMI <2 SD) and overweight/obese (BMI \geq 2 SD).

Mother's characteristics under evaluation in the present study, gathered at baseline, include maternal age, education, smoking during pregnancy (ever and never smoker) and self-reported BMI before pregnancy. Maternal anthropometrics were also measured at 4 years-old, including height, weight and waist circumference. Maternal BMI was calculated according to the formula previously described and classified according to the WHO criteria into underweight (BMI<19.5 kg/m²), normal weight (BMI 19.5-24.9 kg/m²), overweight (BMI 25.0-29.9 kg/m²) and obese (BMI \geq 30.0 kg/m²) (29). Maternal waist circumference was measured midway between the lower limit of the rib cage and the iliac crest, to the nearest centimetre and using a flexible and non-distensible tape. The waist circumference was categorized into low risk (<80 cm), increased risk (80.0 to 87.9 cm) and high risk (\geq 88.0 cm), according to the World Health Organization criteria (30). Mother's lifestyles, such as physical activity was assessed based on information collected at the 4 years old evaluation.

Family characteristics, such as the number of siblings (recoded into none, one, two or more) and family structure (living with both parents, with single parent or having other family structure) were also asked at 4 years old.

Statistical analysis

Descriptive statistics (mean and the respective standard deviation (SD)) were presented and General Linear Models (β coefficients, 95% confidence intervals (95%CI)) were performed to estimate the association between child, mother and family characteristics and the Healthy Dietary Variety Index.

At multivariate analysis, three models were considered: model 1 was adjusted for child's sex, and mother's age and education; model 2 was adjusted for variables from

model 1 plus media screening, breastfeeding duration and number of siblings; and model 3 was adjusted for variables from model 2 plus child's z-score BMI at 4 years.

An interaction of the child's sex in these associations was studied, by conducting stratified analysis, but no significant interaction was found; thus, results are reported for both sexes together.

A significance level of 5% was set. SPSS Statistics 21.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) was used to perform all the statistical analyses.

RESULTS

The distribution of the Healthy Dietary Variety Index and its individual food groups is reported in Table 1. The final index could range between 0 and 1, with 1 representing a higher variety and adequacy. In this sample, the mean score of the Healthy Dietary Variety Index was 0.78 (SD=0.11) with a minimum of 0.25 and a maximum of 1. The mean scores were higher for the food groups meat, fish and alternatives (mean=0.88, SD=0.13) and vegetables (mean=0.83, SD=0.21) and lower for the starchy foods (mean=0.68, SD=0.17) and fruit (mean=0.77, SD=0.30).

Child, mother and family characteristics are described in Table 2. Just over half of child are male (51.5%) and the majority was born from a vaginal delivery (61.1%), with an adequate weight for gestational age (82.0%). At 4 years old, most children spent more than 120 minutes per day in media screening (71.3%), practiced regular physical exercise (68.3%), presented a normal weight (68.1%) and were breastfed for 6 or more months (54.3%). The majority of mothers had 25 to 34 years-old at baseline (66.1%), 9 to 12 years of education (42.3%), never smoked during pregnancy (79.9%), had a normal weight before pregnancy (65.5%) and at 4 years of age of their sons (46.5%), and also had a waist circumference below 80 cm (42.4%). Approximately 81% of mothers did not practice regular physical exercise (80.9%) at 4 years old of children. Family characteristics show that most children did not have brothers (46.6%) and lived with both parents (87.2%) at 4 years old.

The univariate associations of the child, mother and family characteristics with the Healthy Dietary Variety Index are also presented in Table 2. A significantly lower score in the Healthy Dietary Variety Index was observed in 4 years old children that spent more than 120 minutes per day in media screening (β =-0.017, 95%CI:-0.025;-0.010), do not

practicing regular physical exercise (β =-0.028, 95%CI:-0.036;-0.021), underweight (compared with normal weight: β =-0.085, 95%CI:-0.134;-0.035) and never breastfed or breastfed for less than 4 months (compared with ≥6 months: β =-0.014; 95%CI:-0.022;-0.007). In addition, children from younger mothers (<25 vs. ≥35 years: β =-0.014, 95%CI: -0.022;-0.002), less educated (<9 vs. >12 years: β =-0.052, 95%CI: -0.060;-0.043), overweight (compared with normal weight: β =-0.009, 95%CI: -0.017;-0.002) or obese at 4 years of child's age (β =-0.010, 95%CI: -0.019;-0.001) and with a waist circumference higher than 88 cm (compared with < 80 cm: β =-0.011, 95%CI: -0.019;-0.003) also presented significantly lower scores in the Healthy Dietary Variety Index. Those mothers who did not practice regular physical exercise were also associated with less child's dietary variety (β =-0.018, 95%CI: -0.027;-0.010). Less dietary variety was also related with not having siblings (none vs. ≥2: β =-0.013, 95%CI: -0.024;-0.002). Child's characteristics at birth, mother's smoking during pregnancy, mother's BMI before pregnancy and the family structure were not significantly associated with the Healthy Dietary Variety Index.

The multivariate analyses are presented in Table 3. Adjustments considered in model 1 (child's sex and mother's age and education) show to be the main confounders of the reported associations, and thus model 1 was considered as the final model. According to this, children spent more than 120 minutes per day in media screening (β =-0.012, 95%CI: -0.019;-0.004), do not practicing regular physical exercise (β =-0.022, 95%CI: -0.029;-0.014), underweight at 4 years (compared with normal weight: β =-0.081, 95%CI: -0.130;-0.032) and never breastfed or breastfed for less than 4 months (compared with ≥6 months: β = -0.012, 95%CI: -0.019;-0.005) had significantly lower scores in the Healthy Dietary Variety Index. Children from less educated mothers (<9 vs. >12 years: β =-0.052, 95%CI: -0.051;-0.061;-0.043 and 9-12 vs. >12 years: β =-0.026, 95%CI: -0.034;-0.018) and less physically active mothers (β =-0.010, 95%CI: -0.018;-0.001) also presented less dietary variety. Family characteristics, such as a low number of siblings (none vs. ≥2: β =-0.023, 95%CI: -0.034;-0.011) and a two-parent family structure (compared with a single-parent family: β =-0.010, 95%CI: -0.021;-0.001) also influenced negatively the dietary variety at 4 years old.

DISCUSSION

This study investigated the dietary variety in 4 years old children, with a modified version of a previous dietary variety index, assessing dietary variety within and among food groups (15). The results show that children are consuming as wide variety healthy foods as is recommended (the mean score was 0.78 from a maximum of 1.00), and just in the group of starchy foods none of the children reached the recommended score of 1.00.

Results observed in this study for the total mean score are slightly lower compared with the mean score reported in the original study of Cox *et al.* (mean score of 0.80) (15), but higher when compared with other studies, such as the one from Powers and co-workers (mean score of 0.70 was reported) (31). However, these two studies used data from 3-day food records, had a smaller sample and were applied in children with 1 to 3 years old (15, 31), which could hamper straight comparison with our study.

If we analyse the individual contribution of food groups for the total Healthy Dietary Variety Index, we can observe that the food groups of vegetables (mean score of 0.83) and meat, fish and alternatives (mean score of 0.88) had higher scores compared with the same two studied cited before (0.73 (15) and 0.26 (31) for vegetables and 0.74 (15) and 0.73 (31) for meat, fish and alternatives). A higher score for vegetables was not expected, because previous studies have reported that infants are not eating enough fruit and vegetables (5-9). However, countries in south Europe, such as Portugal, seem to follow a better nutritional diet than other countries (32), and we should keep in mind that in the present study, for fruit and vegetables, we are only analysing dietary adequacy and not variety (we have only 3 items in this food group). The higher score in meat, fish and alternatives group can be also related with the traditional diet followed in Portugal, because the Mediterranean dietary pattern includes consumption of fish and shellfish, white meat and eggs (33).

Furthermore, this study aimed to examine the association of child, mother and family characteristics with dietary variety. We found that children of 4 years old who spend more than 120 minutes per day in media screening, do not practicing regular physical exercise, underweight and never breastfed or breastfed for less than 4 months had less dietary variety. Children from less educated mothers and less physically active mothers also presented less dietary variety. Family structure characteristics, such as do not having sibling and live with both parents increased the probability of having less dietary variety at 4 years of age.

To the best of the authors' knowledge, no previous study has investigated in children the association of dietary variety with a wide range of both child and mother's characteristics and also the family structure. Because of that, some results are difficult to compare. Moreover, some studies do not evaluate dietary variety in specific, but dietary quality, which we assume to be directly related with dietary variety (34, 35).

Children's lifestyles, such as sedentary behaviours, represented in our study by spending more than 120 minutes per day in media screening or do not practising regular physical exercise, have been related with dietary quality, using other indices, such as the Healthy Eating Index-2005 and similar results were reported: a lower TV-viewing was associated with a higher Healthy Eating Index-2005 that represents a healthier diet in children and adults (20). Another index, the Healthy Eating Index-2010 was also related with physical activity, but no significant associations were found (36). However, none of these scores include variety. Another study developed in Greece, in children with 2 to 5 years old used the Healthy Eating Index, that include variety, and a low score was associated with low levels of physical activity (22). In another study, that also used an index including variety to describe dietary quality, the Canadian version of Healthy Eating Index, the positive association between diet quality and some aspects of physical activity suggests possible clustering of healthy behaviours and the authors suggest in future research, to test the potential benefits of promoting one health behaviour (e.g. healthy eating) with another (e.g. physical activity) (23).

In the present study, underweight children presented less dietary variety than normal weight children, like in others studies previously described in the literature (34, 37-39). However, the reasons for study this association can be different because these studies were mostly designed in developing countries where the major concern is the nutritional status of children. Furthermore, the scores used in these studies were the Food Variety Score (37), the Dietary Variety Score (39) or both (34, 38) that do not include variety within and among food groups and dietary adequacy, as in our study. The reported association could, at some extent, be explained by certain feeding behaviours, such as picky eating (the consumption of an insufficient amount or an inadequate variety of foods through rejection of food items (40, 41)) and food neophobia (frequently adopted by underweight children), that have been associated with less dietary variety in young children (42).

According to other studies from developed countries, the breastfeeding duration is positively associated with dietary variety (4, 16). This finding is consistent with the notion that infants' experiences with breast milk enhance their exposure and thus their

acceptance of a variety of flavours (43). However, in these studies, dietary variety was represented by scores specifically created by their authors to evaluate fruit and vegetables variety, and the studies were applied in a sample of 2 years old children (16) or school aged-children (4).

In our study, mothers less educated have children with less dietary variety and this association was found in both developing (37, 44, 45) and developed (16) countries, even with differences in the measurement of dietary variety. In fact, maternal education seems to be a strong predictor of dietary variety and a main confounder of most of the associations reported in the present study.

Contrary to what was expected, in our study, do not having siblings was related with less dietary variety. In a previous study, it was found that a higher number of children in the family were associated with lower dietary diversity in children with 6-24 months from Bangladesh and Vietnam (44). In another study developed in Australia including children and adolescents between 4 and 16 years old, and using an index that included variety (the Dietary Guideline Index for Children and Adolescents), the authors found that after adjustment for child's age, gender, BMI, energy intake and socio-demographic characteristics, the number of children in the household was negatively associated with the score (19). In our study, children had 4 years old and at that age, picky eating can increase significantly and, as previously reported, having siblings protects against the development of picky eating at that ages (46).

Living with both parents in our study was also related with less dietary variety. Again, this result was not expected because it has been previously described in an Australian study in children aged between 4 and 16 years old that single-parent families were negatively associated with the Dietary Guideline Index for Children and Adolescents, an index that includes variety (19). However, it was also found that children in single parent families, with relatively higher income had a higher likelihood of eating patterns more consistent with recommendation for total dietary intake (i.e. nutrients and food) (47).

The present study has some strengths and limitations that deserve further discussion. This study is part of a population-based cohort study with a large sample size, conducted by an experience team, which contributes to minimize bias and support validity of the results. Another strength was the use of a specific index for toddlers that ensure variety within and among food groups, and also reflecting dietary adequacy (15). On the other hand, the index we used reflects dietary adequacy by comparison with recommendations of other country (US) and the index does not assess variety within fruit and vegetables due

to limited questions of the FFQ on these food groups, and just reflects whether or not children eat recommended number of servings of these two food groups. In this study, we also made an assumption that food variety is directly related to diet quality but we were unable to validate this assumption. Another limitation was the non-validation of the index, although methodology is based on sound principals, such as adherence to dietary guidelines. Furthermore, for some of the reported associations, the temporal sequence cannot necessarily be determined (for those variables assessed at the same age), and thus, we cannot discard a potential reverse causality bias.

In conclusion, this study shows that 4 years old children are consuming as wide variety healthy foods as is recommended. When studying its related factors, sedentary behaviours, such as a high number of media screening hours (2 or more hours per day) and a no regular practice of physical exercise were associated with a decreased dietary variety. Underweight children and those never breastfed or breastfed for less than 4 months had also less dietary variety.

Mother and family characteristics also showed to influence dietary variety of young children. Children from less educated and less physically active mothers presented less dietary variety. A traditional family structure with no siblings and living with both parents increased the probability of having less dietary variety at 4 years of age.

REFERENCES

1. Nicklaus S. Development of food variety in children. Appetite. 2009;52(1):253-5.

2. US Dept of Agriculture, US Dept of Health and Human Services. Nutrition and Your Health: Dietary Guidelines for Americans, Home and Garden Bulletin No.232. 5th ed. Washington DC: US Department of Agriculture; 2000.

3. National Health and Medical Research Council. Dietary Guidelines for Australian Adults. Commonwealth Department of Health and Ageing: Canberra, Australia; 2003.

4. Skinner JD, Carruth BR, Bounds W, Ziegler P, Reidy K. Do Food-Related Experiences in the First 2 Years of Life Predict Dietary Variety in School-Aged Children? J Nutr Educ Behav. 2002;34(6):310-5.

5. Kim SA, Moore LV, Galuska D, Wright AP, Harris D, Grummer-Strawn LM, et al. Vital signs: fruit and vegetable intake among children - United States, 2003-2010. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2014;63(31):671-6.

6. Alexy U, Sichert-Hellert W, Kersting M. Fifteen-year time trends in energy and macronutrient intake in German children and adolescents: results of the DONALD study. Br J Nutr. 2002;87(6):595-604.

7. Webb KL, Lahti-Koski M, Rutishauser I, Hector DJ, Knezevic N, Gill T, et al. Consumption of 'extra' foods (energy-dense, nutrient-poor) among children aged 16-24 months from western Sydney, Australia. Public Health Nutr. 2006;9(8):1035-44.

8. Fox MK, Pac S, Devaney B, Jankowski L. Feeding infants and toddlers study: What foods are infants and toddlers eating? J Am Diet Assoc. 2004;104(1 Suppl 1):s22-30.

9. Kudlova E, Rames J. Food consumption and feeding patterns of Czech infants and toddlers living in Prague. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2007;61(2):239-47.

10. Smithers LG, Golley RK, Brazionis L, Lynch JW. Characterizing whole diets of young children from developed countries and the association between diet and health: a systematic review. Nutr Rev. 2011;69(8):449-67.

11. Falciglia GA, Troyer AG, Couch SC. Dietary variety increases as a function of time and influences diet quality in children. J Nutr Educ Behav. 2004;36(2):77-83.

12. Hu FB. Dietary pattern analysis: a new direction in nutritional epidemiology. Curr Opin Lipidol. 2002;13(1):3-9.

13. Marshall S, Burrows T, Collins CE. Systematic review of diet quality indices and their associations with health-related outcomes in children and adolescents. Journal of human

nutrition and dietetics : the official journal of the British Dietetic Association. 2014. [Epub ahead of print].

14. Ruel MT. Operationalizing dietary diversity: a review of measurement issues and research priorities. J Nutr. 2003;133(11 Suppl 2):3911s-26s.

15. Cox DR, Skinner JD, Carruth BR, Moran J, 3rd, Houck KS. A Food Variety Index for Toddlers (VIT): development and application. J Am Diet Assoc. 1997;97(12):1382-6.

16. Scott JA, Chih TY, Oddy WH. Food variety at 2 years of age is related to duration of breastfeeding. Nutrients. 2012;4(10):1464-74.

17. Ystrom E, Niegel S, Vollrath ME. The impact of maternal negative affectivity on dietary patterns of 18-month-old children in the Norwegian Mother and Child Cohort Study. Matern Child Nutr. 2009;5(3):234-42.

18. North K, Emmett P. Multivariate analysis of diet among three-year-old children and associations with socio-demographic characteristics. The Avon Longitudinal Study of Pregnancy and Childhood (ALSPAC) Study Team. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2000;54(1):73-80.

19. Golley RK, Hendrie GA, McNaughton SA. Scores on the dietary guideline index for children and adolescents are associated with nutrient intake and socio-economic position but not adiposity. J Nutr. 2011;141(7):1340-7.

20. Sisson SB, Shay CM, Broyles ST, Leyva M. Television-viewing time and dietary quality among U.S. children and adults. Am J Prev Med. 2012;43(2):196-200.

21. Liang T, Kuhle S, Veugelers PJ. Nutrition and body weights of Canadian children watching television and eating while watching television. Public Health Nutr. 2009;12(12):2457-63.

22. Manios Y, Kourlaba G, Kondaki K, Grammatikaki E, Birbilis M, Oikonomou E, et al. Diet quality of preschoolers in Greece based on the Healthy Eating Index: the GENESIS study. J Am Diet Assoc. 2009;109(4):616-23.

23. Woodruff SJ, Hanning RM. Associations between diet quality and physical activity measures among a southern Ontario regional sample of grade 6 students. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab. 2010;35(6):826-33.

24. Kyttala P, Erkkola M, Lehtinen-Jacks S, Ovaskainen ML, Uusitalo L, Veijola R, et al. Finnish Children Healthy Eating Index (FCHEI) and its associations with family and child characteristics in pre-school children. Public Health Nutr. 2013:1-9.

25. Larsen PS, Kamper-Jorgensen M, Adamson A, Barros H, Bonde JP, Brescianini S, et al. Pregnancy and birth cohort resources in europe: a large opportunity for aetiological child health research. Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol. 2013;27(4):393-414.

26. Husted JA, Cook RJ, Farewell VT, Gladman DD. Methods for assessing responsiveness: a critical review and recommendations. J Clin Epidemiol. 2000;53(5):459-68.

27. Kramer MS, Platt RW, Wen SW, Joseph KS, Allen A, Abrahamowicz M, et al. A new and improved population-based Canadian reference for birth weight for gestational age. Pediatrics. 2001;108(2):E35.

28. WHO. WHO Child Growth Standards based on length/height, weight and age. Acta Paediatr Suppl. 2006;450:76-85.

29. Expert Panel on the Identification E, and Treatment of Overweight in Adults. Clinical guidelines on the Identification, Evaluation, and Treatment of Overweight and Obesity in adults: executive summary. Am J Clin Nutr. 1998;68:899-917.

30. World Health Organization. Obesity: Preventing and Managing the Global Epidemic.Report of a WHO consultation on obesity. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2000.

31. Powers SW, Patton SR, Rajan S. A comparison of food group variety between toddlers with and without cystic fibrosis. Journal of human nutrition and dietetics : the official journal of the British Dietetic Association. 2004;17(6):523-7.

32. Willett WC, Sacks F, Trichopoulou A, Drescher G, Ferro-Luzzi A, Helsing E, et al. Mediterranean diet pyramid: a cultural model for healthy eating. Am J Clin Nutr. 1995;61(6 Suppl):1402s-6s.

33. Castro-Quezada I, Roman-Vinas B, Serra-Majem L. The Mediterranean diet and nutritional adequacy: a review. Nutrients. 2014;6(1):231-48.

34. Steyn NP, Nel JH, Nantel G, Kennedy G, Labadarios D. Food variety and dietary diversity scores in children: are they good indicators of dietary adequacy? Public Health Nutr. 2006;9(5):644-50.

35. Wirt A, Collins CE. Diet quality--what is it and does it matter? Public Health Nutr. 2009;12(12):2473-92.

36. Serrano M, Torres R, Perez CM, Palacios C. Social environment factors, diet quality, and body weight in 12-year-old children from four public schools in Puerto Rico. P R Health Sci J. 2014;33(2):80-7.

37. Darapheak C, Takano T, Kizuki M, Nakamura K, Seino K. Consumption of animal source foods and dietary diversity reduce stunting in children in Cambodia. Int Arch Med. 2013;6(1):29.

38. Hatloy A, Hallund J, Diarra MM, Oshaug A. Food variety, socioeconomic status and nutritional status in urban and rural areas in Koutiala (Mali). Public Health Nutr. 2000;3(1):57-65.

39. Ey Chua EY, Zalilah MS, Ys Chin YS, Norhasmah S. Dietary diversity is associated with nutritional status of Orang Asli children in Krau Wildlife Reserve, Pahang. Malays J Nutr. 2012;18(1):1-13.

40. Galloway AT, Fiorito L, Lee Y, Birch LL. Parental pressure, dietary patterns, and weight status among girls who are "picky eaters". J Am Diet Assoc. 2005;105(4):541-8.

41. Lewinsohn PM, Holm-Denoma JM, Gau JM, Joiner TE, Jr., Striegel-Moore R, Bear P, et al. Problematic eating and feeding behaviors of 36-month-old children. Int J Eat Disord. 2005;38(3):208-19.

42. Falciglia GA, Couch SC, Gribble LS, Pabst SM, Frank R. Food neophobia in childhood affects dietary variety. J Am Diet Assoc. 2000;100(12):1474-81.

43. Mennella JA, Jagnow CP, Beauchamp GK. Prenatal and postnatal flavor learning by human infants. Pediatrics. 2001;107(6):E88.

44. Nguyen PH, Avula R, Ruel MT, Saha KK, Ali D, Tran LM, et al. Maternal and child dietary diversity are associated in Bangladesh, Vietnam, and Ethiopia. J Nutr. 2013;143(7):1176-83.

45. Aemro M, Mesele M, Birhanu Z, Atenafu A. Dietary Diversity and Meal Frequency Practices among Infant and Young Children Aged 6-23 Months in Ethiopia: A Secondary Analysis of Ethiopian Demographic and Health Survey 2011. J Nutr Metab. 2013;2013:782931.

46. Hafstad GS, Abebe DS, Torgersen L, von Soest T. Picky eating in preschool children: The predictive role of the child's temperament and mother's negative affectivity. Eat Behav. 2013;14(3):274-7.

47. Lee EJ, McBride Murry V, Brody G, Parker V. Maternal resources, parenting, and dietary patterns among rural African American children in single-parent families. Public Health Nurs. 2002;19(2):104-11.

Table 1 – Distribution of the Healthy Dietary Variety Index and its individual food groups in the Generation XXI sample (n=3962).

	Starchy Foods	Vegetables	Fruit	Meat, fish and	Dairy Foods	Healthy Variety
				alternatives		Index
Mean	0.68	0.83	0.77	0.88	0.77	0.78
Standard Deviation	0.17	0.21	0.30	0.13	0.16	0.11
Minimum	0.02	0	0	0.03	0	0.25
Maximum	0.99	1	1	1	1	1

Possible range score: 0-1; 1 represents a higher variety and adequacy.

Table 2 – Descriptives of the child, mother and family characteristics and univariateassociations with the Healthy Dietary Variety Index.

	n (%)	Healthy Variety Index Mean (SD)	Crude β-coefficient (95%Cl)		
CHILD'S CHARACTERISTIC	S AT BIRTH				
Child's sex					
Female	1921 (48.5)	0.78 (0.11)	0.001 (-0.006;0.008)		
Male	2041 (51.5)	0.78 (0.11)	Ref.		
Type of delivery					
Vaginal	2419 (61.1)	0.79 (0.11)	0.003 (-0.004;0.010)		
Caesarean	1543 (38.9)	0.78 (0.11)	Ref.		
Weight for gestational age*		0.77 (0.11)	0.040 (0.020:0.000)		
Small	551 (14.2)	0.77 (0.11)	-0.012 (-0.032;0.008)		
Appropriate	3175 (82.0)	0.79 (0.11)	0.002 (-0.016;0.020) Ref.		
Large CHILD'S CHARACTERISTIC	146 (3.8)	0.79 (0.12)	Rei.		
	SAI4 TEARS				
Media screening ≤120 minutes/day	2826 (71.3)	0.79 (0.10)	Ref.		
>120 minutes/day	1136 (28.7)	0.79 (0.10)	-0.017 (-0.025;-0.010)		
Regular physical exercise*	1130 (20.7)	0.77(0.11)			
No	1237 (31.4)	0.77 (0.11)	-0.028 (-0.036;-0.021)		
Yes	2708 (68.6)	0.79 (0.10)	-0.020 (-0.030,-0.021) Ref.		
WHO z-score BMI*	2100 (00.0)	0.73 (0.10)	itel.		
Underweight	18 (0.5)	0.70 (0.13)	-0.085 (-0.134;-0.035)		
Normal weight	2659 (68.1)	0.79 (0.11)	Ref.		
Overweight	823 (21.1)	0.79 (0.11)	0.005 (-0.003;0.013)		
Obesity	406 (10.4)	0.77 (0.11)	-0.011 (-0.022;0.001)		
Any breastfeeding duration					
<4 months or never	1365 (34.5)	0.78 (0.11)	-0.014 (-0.022;-0.007)		
4-5 months	444 (11.2)	0.79 (0.10)	0.005 (-0.006;0.016)		
≥6 months	2153 (54.3)	0.79 (0.11)	Ref.		
MOTHER'S CHARACTERIS					
Age					
<25 years	622 (15.7)	0.78 (0.11)	-0.014 (-0.025;-0.002)		
25-34 years	2617 (66.1)	0.79 (0.11)	-0.002 (-0.011;0.007)		
≥ 35 years	723 (18.2)	0.79 (0.11)	Ref.		
Education					
<9 years	1095 (27.6)	0.76 (0.11)	-0.052 (-0.060;-0.043)		
9-12 years	1674 (42.3)	0.78 (0.11)	-0.027 (-0.035;-0.019)		
>12 years	1193 (30.1)	0.80 (0.10)	Ref.		
Smoking during pregnancy*					
Never	3123 (79.9)	0.79 (0.11)	Ref.		
Ever	785 (20.1)	0.78 (0.10)	-0.008 (-0.016;0.001)		
BMI before pregnancy*	140 (4 4)	0.00 (0.40)	0.005 (0.040-0.000)		
Underweight	149 (4.1)	0.80 (0.10)	0.005 (-0.013;0.022)		
Normal weight	2410 (65.5)	0.79 (0.11)	Ref.		
Overweight	804 (21.9)	0.78 (0.11)	-0.006 (-0.015;0.003)		
Obesity	314 (8.5)	0.78 (0.11)	-0.009 (-0.022;0.004)		

 Table 2. Continuation – Descriptives of the child, mother and family characteristics and univariate associations with the Healthy Dietary Variety Index

	n (%)	Healthy Variety Index Mean (SD)	Crude β-coefficient (95%CI)			
MOTHER'S CHARACTERIST	CS					
BMI at 4 years*						
Underweight	43 (1.2)	0.82 (0.11)	0.027 (-0.006;0.059)			
Normal weight	1740 (46.5)	0.79 (0.10)	Ref.			
Overweight	1178 (31.5)	0.78 (0.11)	-0.009 (-0.017;-0.002)			
Obesity	777 (20.8)	0.78 (0.11)	-0.010 (-0.019;-0.001)			
Waist Circumference*						
<80.0 cm	1581 (42.4)	0.79 (0.10)	Ref.			
80-87.9 cm	918 (24.6)	0.79 (0.11)	-0.003 (-0.012;0.006)			
≥88.0 cm	1232 (33.0)	0.78 (0.11)	-0.011 (-0.019;-0.003)			
Regular physical exercise*	Regular physical exercise*					
No	3139 (80.9)	0.78 (0.11)	-0.018 (-0.027;-0.010)			
Yes	742 (19.1)	0.80 (0.11)	Ref.			
FAMILY CHARACTERISTICS						
Number of siblings						
None	1845 (46.6)	0.78 (0.10)	-0.013 (-0.024;-0.002)			
One	1671 (42.2)	0.79 (0.11)	-0.002 (-0.014;0.009)			
Two or more	446 (11.3)	0.79 (0.11)	Ref.			
Family structure*						
Both parents	3453 (87.2)	0.78 (0.11)	-0.007 (-0.017;0.004)			
Single parent	475 (12.0)	0.79 (0.10)	Ref.			
Other family structure	32 (0.8)	0.78 (0.10)	-0.023 (-0.062;0.016)			

* These variables may not add to 3962 due to missing data.

95%CI: 95% confidence intervals; Ref.: reference category; WHO: World Health Organization; BMI: body mass index

Significant associations are in bold type.

Table 3 – Multivariate associations of the child, mother and family characteristics with theHealthy Dietary Variety Index.

		<u> </u>	
	Model 1 ^a Adjusted β coefficient (95%CI)	Model 2 ^b Adjusted β coefficient (95%CI)	Model 3 ^c Adjusted β coefficient (95%Cl)
CHILD'S CHARACTERIST	ICS AT BIRTH		
Child's sex			
Female Male	0.001 (-0.006;0.008) Ref.	0.000 (-0.006;0.007) Ref.	0.000 (-0.006;0.007) Ref.
Type of delivery			
Vaginal Caesarean	0.005 (-0.002;0.012) Ref.	0.004 (-0.003;0.010) Ref.	0.003(-0.004;0.010) Ref.
Weight for gestational age			
Small	-0.014 (-0.033;0.005)	-0.011 (-0.031;0.008)	-0.016 (-0.035;0.004)
Appropriate	-0.002 (-0.020;0.016)	-0.001 (-0.018;0.017)	-0.005 (-0.023;0.012)
Large	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.
CHILD'S CHARACTERIST	ICS AT 4 YEARS		
Media screening			
≤120 minutes/day	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.
>120 minutes/day	-0.012 (-0.019;-0.004)	-0.012 (-0.019;-0.004)	0.011 (-0.019;-0.004)
Regular physical exercise			
No	-0.022 (-0.029;-0.014)	-0.021 (-0.028;-0.014)	-0.020 (-0.027;-0.013)
Yes	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.
WHO z-score BMI			
Underweight	-0.081 (-0.130;-0.032)	-0.083 (-0.131;-0.034)	-0.083 (-0.131;-0.034)
Normal weight	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.
Overweight	0.007 (-0.002;0.015)	0.007 (-0.001;0.015)	0.007 (-0.001;0.015)
Obesity	-0.005 (-0.016;0.006)	-0.004 (-0.015;0.007)	-0.004 (-0.015;0.007)
Any breastfeeding duration	-0.012 (-0.019;-0.005)	-0.011 (-0.018;-0.004)	-0.010 (-0.018;-0.003)
<4 months or never	-0.012 (-0.019,-0.003)	-0.011 (-0.018,-0.004)	-0.010 (-0.018,-0.003)
4-5 months	0.002 (-0.009;0.013)	0.003 (-0.008;0.013)	0.004 (-0.007;0.015)
≥6 months	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.
MOTHER'S CHARACTERI			
Age			
≤25 years	-0,004 (-0,016;0,007)	0.004 (-0.008;0.016)	0.005 (-0.007;0.017)
25-34 years	-0,004 (-0,013;0,004)	0.000 (-0.009;0.009)	0.001 (-0.008;0.009)
≥35 years	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.
Education			
<9 years	-0,052 (-0,061;-0,043)	-0.052 (-0.061;-0.043)	-0.051 (-0.060;-0.042)
9-12 years	-0,026 (-0,034;-0,018)	-0.025 (-0.033;-0.017)	-0.025 (-0.033;-0.016)
>12 years	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.
Smoking during			
pregnancy			
Never	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.
Ever	-0.004 (-0.012;0.005)	-0.002 (-0.011;0.006)	-0.003 (-0.012;0.005)
BMI before pregnancy			
Underweight	0.003 (-0.015;0.020)	0.003 (-0.014;0.021)	0.004 (-0.013;0.022)
Normal weight	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.
Overweight	0.001 (-0.008;0.009)	4.055E-5 (-0.009;0.009)	0.001 (-0.008;0.009)
Obesity	0.001 (-0.012;0.013)	0.000 (-0.012;0.013)	0.001 (-0.012;0.014)

 Table 3. Continuation – Multivariate associations of the child, mother and family characteristics with the Healthy Dietary Variety Index.

	Model 1 ^a	Model 2 ^b	Model 3 ^c	
	Adjusted β coefficient	Adjusted β coefficient	Adjusted β coefficient	
	(95%CI)	(95%CI)	(95%CI)	
MOTHER'S CHARACTERIS	STICS			
BMI at 4 years				
Underweight	0.026 (-0.066;0.058)	0.026 (-0.006;0.058)	0.026 (-0.006;0.058)	
Normal weight	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	
Overweight	-0.004 (-0.012;0.004)	-0.005 (-0.012;0.003)	-0.003 (-0.011;0.004)	
Obesity	-0.001 (-0.010;0.008)	-0.001 (-0.010;0.008)	0.001 (-0.009;0.010)	
Waist Circumference		, · · · /		
<80.0 cm	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	
80-87.9 cm	0.000 (-0.009;0.008)	-0.001 (-0.010;0.007)	-0.001 (-0.009;0.008)	
≥88.0 cm	-0.003 (-0.011;0.005)	-0.004 (-0.012;0.004)	-0.003 (-0.011;0.006)	
Regular physical exercise				
No	-0.010 (-0.018;-0.001)	-0.008 (-0.017;0.001)	-0.007 (-0.016;0.002)	
Yes	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	
FAMILY CHARACTERISTICS				
Number of siblings				
None	-0.023 (-0.034;-0.011)	-0.022 (-0.034;-0.011)	-0.023 (-0.034;-0.011)	
One	-0.011(-0.022;0.001)	-0.011 (-0.022;0.001)	-0.011 (-0.022;0.001)	
Two or more	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	
Family structure				
Both parents	-0.010 (-0.021;-0.001)	-0.012 (-0.023;-0.002)	-0.013 (-0.023;-0.002)	
Single parent	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	
Other family	-0.016 (-0.054;0.022)	-0.013 (-0.051;0.025)	-0.005 (-0.044;0.033)	
structure	· · · · · ·	· , ,	· /	

 a β adjusted for child's sex and mother's age and education.

 $^{\text{b}}$ β adjusted for variables from model 1 plus media screening, breastfeeding duration and number of siblings.

 $^{\circ}\beta$ adjusted for variables from model 2 plus child z-score BMI at 4 years.

95%CI: 95% confidence intervals; Ref.: reference category; WHO: World Health Organization; BMI: body mass index

Significant associations are in bold type.

CONCLUSIONS

This study conducted in a population-based sample suggests that 4 years old children spending more than 120 minutes per day in media screening, do not practicing regular physical exercise, underweight and never breastfed or breastfed for less than 4 months had less dietary variety. Children from less educated mothers and less physically active mothers also presented less dietary variety. Family structure characteristics, such as do not having sibling and live with both parents increased the probability of having less dietary variety at 4 years of age.

FINAL CONSIDERATIONS

The associations reported in this study are relevant to understand some of the factors related with dietary variety in preschool-aged children and gives an additionally information compared with previous literature by using an index that assesses both variety and adequacy of dietary intake and demonstrates an association with different study characteristics. Some of these characteristics have been previously described, such as maternal education and breastfeeding duration, supporting previous research, but other characteristics were scant or not related in specific with dietary variety, such as lifestyles and family environment, giving a new approach for this topic.

The index used in this thesis is extremely interesting not only from the research point of view, but has also potential to be used in public health. It can be helpful as monitoring tool to evaluate how well children comply with dietary recommendations, monitor changes in dietary patterns over time, or evaluate the effectiveness of public health nutrition programs. This index provides a simple method to quantify dietary variety and it is simpler to populations understand these concept. Therefore, it is simple, fast, not expensive and can be used also in developing countries, giving better information than other scores generally used, because it has also information about dietary adequacy.

For future research, it is important to test the validity and reliability of this index in different population settings to have a clearer understanding of its utility alongside with its discriminatory and predictive abilities in diverse groups of children.

REFERENCES

1. Nicklaus S. Development of food variety in children. Appetite. 2009;52(1):253-5.

2. US Dept of Agriculture, US Dept of Health and Human Services. Nutrition and Your Health: Dietary Guidelines for Americans, Home and Garden Bulletin No.232. 5th ed. Washington DC: US Department of Agriculture; 2000.

3. National Health and Medical Research Council. Dietary Guidelines for Australian Adults. Commonwealth Department of Health and Ageing: Canberra, Australia; 2003.

4. US Dept of Agriculture, US Dept of Health and Human Services. Nutrition and Your Health. Dietary Guidelines for Americans. Home and Garden Bulletin No 323. 1st ed. Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office; 1980.

5. European Food Information Council (EUFIC). Food-Based Dietary Guidelines in Europe. EUFIC Review; 2009. URL: http://www.eufic.org/article/en/page/RARCHIVE/expid/food-based-dietary-guidelines-ineurope/ [accessed 24 July, 2014].

6. WHO/FAO (World Health Organization/Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations). Preparation and use of food-based dietary guidelines. Geneva: Nutrition Programme, World Health Organization; 1996.

7. Ruel MT. Operationalizing dietary diversity: a review of measurement issues and research priorities. J Nutr. 2003;133(11 Suppl 2):3911s-26s.

8. Arimond M, Ruel MT. Dietary diversity is associated with child nutritional status: evidence from 11 demographic and health surveys. J Nutr. 2004;134(10):2579-85.

9. Pan American Health Organization (PAHO)/World Health Organization (WHO). Guiding Principles for Complementary Feeding of the Breastfed Child. Washington DC: PAHO/WHO; 2003.

10. Alexy U, Sichert-Hellert W, Kersting M. Fifteen-year time trends in energy and macronutrient intake in German children and adolescents: results of the DONALD study. Br J Nutr. 2002;87(6):595-604.

11. Fox MK, Pac S, Devaney B, Jankowski L. Feeding infants and toddlers study: What foods are infants and toddlers eating? J Am Diet Assoc. 2004;104(1 Suppl 1):s22-30.

12. Kudlova E, Rames J. Food consumption and feeding patterns of Czech infants and toddlers living in Prague. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2007;61(2):239-47.

13. Kim SA, Moore LV, Galuska D, Wright AP, Harris D, Grummer-Strawn LM, et al. Vital signs: fruit and vegetable intake among children - United States, 2003-2010. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2014;63(31):671-6.

14. Subar AF, Krebs-Smith SM, Cook A, Kahle LL. Dietary sources of nutrients among US children, 1989-1991. Pediatrics. 1998;102(4 Pt 1):913-23.

15. Munoz KA, Krebs-Smith SM, Ballard-Barbash R, Cleveland LE. Food intakes of US children and adolescents compared with recommendations. Pediatrics. 1997;100(3 Pt 1):323-9.

16. Rah JH, Akhter N, Semba RD, de Pee S, Bloem MW, Campbell AA, et al. Low dietary diversity is a predictor of child stunting in rural Bangladesh. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2010;64(12):1393-8.

17. Steyn NP, Nel JH, Nantel G, Kennedy G, Labadarios D. Food variety and dietary diversity scores in children: are they good indicators of dietary adequacy? Public Health Nutr. 2006;9(5):644-50.

18. Azadbakht L, Mirmiran P, Esmaillzadeh A, Azizi F. Dietary diversity score and cardiovascular risk factors in Tehranian adults. Public Health Nutr. 2006;9(6):728-36.

19. Truthmann J, Richter A, Thiele S, Drescher L, Roosen J, Mensink GB. Associations of dietary indices with biomarkers of dietary exposure and cardiovascular status among adolescents in Germany. Nutr Metab (Lond). 2012;9(1):92.

20. Li Y, Wedick NM, Lai J, He Y, Hu X, Liu A, et al. Lack of dietary diversity and dyslipidaemia among stunted overweight children: the 2002 China National Nutrition and Health Survey. Public Health Nutr. 2011;14(5):896-903.

21. Azadbakht L, Mirmiran P, Azizi F. Dietary diversity score is favorably associated with the metabolic syndrome in Tehranian adults. Int J Obes (Lond). 2005;29(11):1361-7.

22. Kramer MS, Kakuma R. The optimal duration of exclusive breastfeeding: a systematic review. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2004;554:63-77.

23. Mennella JA, Lukasewycz LD, Castor SM, Beauchamp GK. The timing and duration of a sensitive period in human flavor learning: a randomized trial. Am J Clin Nutr. 2011;93(5):1019-24.

24. Mennella JA, Jagnow CP, Beauchamp GK. Prenatal and postnatal flavor learning by human infants. Pediatrics. 2001;107(6):E88.

25. Cohen RJ, Rivera LL, Canahuati J, Brown KH, Dewey KG. Delaying the introduction of complementary food until 6 months does not affect appetite or mother's report of food acceptance of breast-fed infants from 6 to 12 months in a low income, Honduran population. J Nutr. 1995;125(11):2787-92.

26. Cooke LJ, Wardle J, Gibson EL, Sapochnik M, Sheiham A, Lawson M. Demographic, familial and trait predictors of fruit and vegetable consumption by pre-school children. Public Health Nutr. 2004;7(2):295-302.

27. Skinner JD, Carruth BR, Bounds W, Ziegler P, Reidy K. Do Food-Related Experiences in the First 2 Years of Life Predict Dietary Variety in School-Aged Children? J Nutr Educ Behav. 2002;34(6):310-5.

28. Gerrish CJ, Mennella JA. Flavor variety enhances food acceptance in formula-fed infants. Am J Clin Nutr. 2001;73(6):1080-5.

29. Dovey TM, Staples PA, Gibson EL, Halford JC. Food neophobia and 'picky/fussy' eating in children: a review. Appetite. 2008;50(2-3):181-93.

30. Carruth BR, Skinner J, Houck K, Moran J, 3rd, Coletta F, Ott D. The phenomenon of "picky eater": a behavioral marker in eating patterns of toddlers. J Am Coll Nutr. 1998;17(2):180-6.

31. Falciglia GA, Couch SC, Gribble LS, Pabst SM, Frank R. Food neophobia in childhood affects dietary variety. J Am Diet Assoc. 2000;100(12):1474-81.

32. Hernández M, Sastre A. Alimentación del niño durante la edad escolar. Tratado de Nutrición. Ediciones Díaz de Santos, Madrid. 1999. pp831-835.

33. Nicklaus S, Boggio V, Chabanet C, Issanchou S. A prospective study of food variety seeking in childhood, adolescence and early adult life. Appetite. 2005;44(3):289-97.

34. Wardle J, Herrera ML, Cooke L, Gibson EL. Modifying children's food preferences: the effects of exposure and reward on acceptance of an unfamiliar vegetable. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2003;57(2):341-8.

35. Smiciklas-Wright H, Krebs-Smith SM, Krebs-Smith J. Variety in foods. 1986.

36. Tucker KL. Eat a variety of healthful foods: old advice with new support. Nutr Rev. 2001;59(5):156-8.

37. Onyango AW. Dietary diversity, child nutrition and health in contemporary African communities. Comp Biochem Physiol A Mol Integr Physiol. 2003;136(1):61-9.

38. Torheim LE, Barikmo I, Parr CL, Hatloy A, Ouattara F, Oshaug A. Validation of food variety as an indicator of diet quality assessed with a food frequency questionnaire for Western Mali. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2003;57(10):1283-91.

39. Torheim LE, Ouattara F, Diarra MM, Thiam FD, Barikmo I, Hatloy A, et al. Nutrient adequacy and dietary diversity in rural Mali: association and determinants. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2004;58(4):594-604.

54

40. Jayawardena R, Byrne NM, Soares MJ, Katulanda P, Yadav B, Hills AP. High dietary diversity is associated with obesity in Sri Lankan adults: an evaluation of three dietary scores. BMC Public Health. 2013;13:314.

41. Hatloy A, Hallund J, Diarra MM, Oshaug A. Food variety, socioeconomic status and nutritional status in urban and rural areas in Koutiala (Mali). Public Health Nutr. 2000;3(1):57-65.

42. Arvaniti F, Panagiotakos DB. Healthy indexes in public health practice and research: a review. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr. 2008;48(4):317-27.

43. Hu FB. Dietary pattern analysis: a new direction in nutritional epidemiology. Curr Opin Lipidol. 2002;13(1):3-9.

44. Fransen HP, Ocke MC. Indices of diet quality. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care. 2008;11(5):559-65.

45. Michels KB, Schulze MB. Can dietary patterns help us detect diet-disease associations? Nutr Res Rev. 2005;18(2):241-8.

46. Lee CN RD, MacLean CJ et al. Dietary potassium and stroke. N Engl J Med. 1988;318:995-6.

47. Sacks FM, Obarzanek E, Windhauser MM, Svetkey LP, Vollmer WM, McCullough M, et al. Rationale and design of the Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension trial (DASH). A multicenter controlled-feeding study of dietary patterns to lower blood pressure. Ann Epidemiol. 1995;5(2):108-18.

48. Farchi G, Mariotti S, Menotti A, Seccareccia F, Torsello S, Fidanza F. Diet and 20-y mortality in two rural population groups of middle-aged men in Italy. Am J Clin Nutr. 1989;50(5):1095-103.

49. Kant AK. Indexes of overall diet quality: a review. J Am Diet Assoc. 1996;96(8):785-91.

50. Kennedy ET, Ohls J, Carlson S, Fleming K. The Healthy Eating Index: design and applications. J Am Diet Assoc. 1995;95(10):1103-8.

51. Falciglia GA, Troyer AG, Couch SC. Dietary variety increases as a function of time and influences diet quality in children. J Nutr Educ Behav. 2004;36(2):77-83.

52. Hatloy A, Torheim LE, Oshaug A. Food variety--a good indicator of nutritional adequacy of the diet? A case study from an urban area in Mali, West Africa. Eur J Clin Nutr. 1998;52(12):891-8.

53. Marshall S, Burrows T, Collins CE. Systematic review of diet quality indices and their associations with health-related outcomes in children and adolescents. Journal of human

nutrition and dietetics : the official journal of the British Dietetic Association. 2014. [Epub ahead of print].

54. Smithers LG, Golley RK, Brazionis L, Lynch JW. Characterizing whole diets of young children from developed countries and the association between diet and health: a systematic review. Nutr Rev. 2011;69(8):449-67.

55. Lazarou C, Newby PK. Use of dietary indexes among children in developed countries. Adv Nutr. 2011;2(4):295-303.

56. de Andrade SC, de Azevedo Barros MB, Carandina L, Goldbaum M, Cesar CL, Fisberg RM. Dietary quality index and associated factors among adolescents of the state of Sao Paulo, Brazil. J Pediatr. 2010;156(3):456-60.

57. Vitolo MR, Rauber F, Campagnolo PD, Feldens CA, Hoffman DJ. Maternal dietary counseling in the first year of life is associated with a higher healthy eating index in childhood. J Nutr. 2010;140(11):2002-7.

58. Royo-Bordonada MA, Gorgojo L, Ortega H, Martín-Moreno JM, Lasunción MA, Garcés C, et al. Greater dietary variety is associated with better biochemical nutritional status in Spanish children: The Four Provinces Study. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis. 2003;13(6):357-64.

59. Gittelsohn J, Vijayadeva V, Davison N, Ramirez V, Cheung LW, Murphy S, et al. A food store intervention trial improves caregiver psychosocial factors and children's dietary intake in Hawaii. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2010;18 Suppl 1:S84-90.

60. Kim S, Haines PS, Siega-Riz AM, Popkin BM. The Diet Quality Index-International (DQI-I) provides an effective tool for cross-national comparison of diet quality as illustrated by China and the United States. J Nutr. 2003;133(11):3476-84.

61. Mariscal-Arcas M, Romaguera D, Rivas A, Feriche B, Pons A, Tur JA, et al. Diet quality of young people in southern Spain evaluated by a Mediterranean adaptation of the Diet Quality Index-International (DQI-I). Br J Nutr. 2007;98(6):1267-73.

62. Patterson RE, Haines PS, Popkin BM. Diet quality index: capturing a multidimensional behavior. J Am Diet Assoc. 1994;94(1):57-64.

63. Kranz S, Hartman T, Siega-Riz AM, Herring AH. A diet quality index for American preschoolers based on current dietary intake recommendations and an indicator of energy balance. J Am Diet Assoc. 2006;106(10):1594-604.

64. Kranz S, Siega-Riz AM, Herring AH. Changes in diet quality of American preschoolers between 1977 and 1998. Am J Public Health. 2004;94(9):1525-30.

65. Ruel MT, Menon P. Child feeding practices are associated with child nutritional status in Latin America: innovative uses of the demographic and health surveys. J Nutr. 2002;132(6):1180-7.

66. Guenther PM, Reedy J, Krebs-Smith SM. Development of the Healthy Eating Index-2005. J Am Diet Assoc. 2008;108(11):1896-901.

67. Woodruff SJ, Hanning RM. Development and implications of a revised Canadian Healthy Eating Index (HEIC-2009). Public Health Nutr. 2010;13(6):820-5.

68. Huybrechts I, Vereecken C, De Bacquer D, Vandevijvere S, Van Oyen H, Maes L, et al. Reproducibility and validity of a diet quality index for children assessed using a FFQ. Br J Nutr. 2010;104(1):135-44.

69. Marshall S, Watson J, Burrows T, Guest M, Collins CE. The development and evaluation of the Australian child and adolescent recommended food score: a cross-sectional study. Nutr J. 2012;11:96.

70. Cox DR, Skinner JD, Carruth BR, Moran J, 3rd, Houck KS. A Food Variety Index for Toddlers (VIT): development and application. J Am Diet Assoc. 1997;97(12):1382-6.

71. Jones JM. Development of a nutritional screening or assessment tool using a multivariate technique. Nutrition. 2004;20(3):298-306.

72. Kourlaba G, Panagiotakos D. The number of index components affects the diagnostic accuracy of a diet quality index: the role of intracorrelation and intercorrelation structure of the components. Ann Epidemiol. 2009;19(10):692-700.

73. Guenther PM, Reed J, Krebs-Smith, Reeve BB, Basiotis PP. Development and evaluation of the Healthy Eating Index - 2005: Technical Report. Center for Nutrition Policy and Promotion, USDA; 2007. URL: http://www.cnpp.usda.gov/HealthyEatingIndex.htm [accessed 06 August, 2014].

74. Lazarou C, Panagiotakos DB, Spanoudis G, Matalas AL. E-KINDEX: a dietary screening tool to assess children's obesogenic dietary habits. J Am Coll Nutr. 2011;30(2):100-12.

75. Patterson BH, Dayton CM, Graubard B. Latent class analysis of complex sample survey data: Application to dietary data. J Am Stat Assoc. 2002;97(459):721-41.

76. MacIntyre UE, Venter CS, Vorster HH, Steyn HS. A combination of statistical methods for the analysis of the relative validation data of the quantitative food frequency questionnaire used in the THUSA study. Transition, Health and Urbanisation in South Africa. Public Health Nutr. 2001;4(1):45-51.

77. Hearty AP, Gibney MJ. Analysis of meal patterns with the use of supervised data mining techniques--artificial neural networks and decision trees. Am J Clin Nutr. 2008;88(6):1632-42.

78. Cade J, Thompson R, Burley V, Warm D. Development, validation and utilisation of food-frequency questionnaires - a review. Public Health Nutr. 2002;5(4):567-87.

79. Willet WC. Nutritional epidemiology. 2nd ed. New York: Oxford University Press; 1998.

80. Ey Chua EY, Zalilah MS, Ys Chin YS, Norhasmah S. Dietary diversity is associated with nutritional status of Orang Asli children in Krau Wildlife Reserve, Pahang. Malays J Nutr. 2012;18(1):1-13.

81. Bork K, Cames C, Barigou S, Cournil A, Diallo A. A summary index of feeding practices is positively associated with height-for-age, but only marginally with linear growth, in rural Senegalese infants and toddlers. J Nutr. 2012;142(6):1116-22.

82. Darapheak C, Takano T, Kizuki M, Nakamura K, Seino K. Consumption of animal source foods and dietary diversity reduce stunting in children in Cambodia. Int Arch Med. 2013;6(1):29.

83. Kennedy GL, Pedro MR, Seghieri C, Nantel G, Brouwer I. Dietary diversity score is a useful indicator of micronutrient intake in non-breast-feeding Filipino children. J Nutr. 2007;137(2):472-7.

84. Daniels MC, Adair LS, Popkin BM, Truong YK. Dietary diversity scores can be improved through the use of portion requirements: an analysis in young Filipino children. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2009;63(2):199-208.

85. Kleiser C, Mensink GB, Scheidt-Nave C, Kurth BM. HuSKY: a healthy nutrition score based on food intake of children and adolescents in Germany. Br J Nutr. 2009;102(4):610-8.

86. Kleiser C, Mensink GB, Neuhauser H, Schenk L, Kurth BM. Food intake of young people with a migration background living in Germany. Public Health Nutr. 2010;13(3):324-30.

87. Knol LL, Haughton B, Fitzhugh EC. Food insufficiency is not related to the overall variety of foods consumed by young children in low-income families. J Am Diet Assoc. 2004;104(4):640-4.

88. Scott JA, Chih TY, Oddy WH. Food variety at 2 years of age is related to duration of breastfeeding. Nutrients. 2012;4(10):1464-74.

89. Ystrom E, Niegel S, Vollrath ME. The impact of maternal negative affectivity on dietary patterns of 18-month-old children in the Norwegian Mother and Child Cohort Study. Matern Child Nutr. 2009;5(3):234-42.

90. North K, Emmett P. Multivariate analysis of diet among three-year-old children and associations with socio-demographic characteristics. The Avon Longitudinal Study of Pregnancy and Childhood (ALSPAC) Study Team. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2000;54(1):73-80.

91. Golley RK, Hendrie GA, McNaughton SA. Scores on the dietary guideline index for children and adolescents are associated with nutrient intake and socio-economic position but not adiposity. J Nutr. 2011;141(7):1340-7.

92. Stewart SD, Menning CL. Family structure, nonresident father involvement, and adolescent eating patterns. J Adolesc Health. 2009;45(2):193-201.

93. Nguyen PH, Avula R, Ruel MT, Saha KK, Ali D, Tran LM, et al. Maternal and child dietary diversity are associated in Bangladesh, Vietnam, and Ethiopia. J Nutr. 2013;143(7):1176-83.

94. Aemro M, Mesele M, Birhanu Z, Atenafu A. Dietary Diversity and Meal Frequency Practices among Infant and Young Children Aged 6-23 Months in Ethiopia: A Secondary Analysis of Ethiopian Demographic and Health Survey 2011. J Nutr Metab. 2013;2013:782931.

95. Kyttala P, Erkkola M, Lehtinen-Jacks S, Ovaskainen ML, Uusitalo L, Veijola R, et al. Finnish Children Healthy Eating Index (FCHEI) and its associations with family and child characteristics in pre-school children. Public Health Nutr. 2013:1-9.

96. Pearson N, Biddle SJ. Sedentary behavior and dietary intake in children, adolescents, and adults. A systematic review. Am J Prev Med. 2011;41(2):178-88.

97. Liang T, Kuhle S, Veugelers PJ. Nutrition and body weights of Canadian children watching television and eating while watching television. Public Health Nutr. 2009;12(12):2457-63.

98. Sisson SB, Shay CM, Broyles ST, Leyva M. Television-viewing time and dietary quality among U.S. children and adults. Am J Prev Med. 2012;43(2):196-200.

99. Manios Y, Kourlaba G, Kondaki K, Grammatikaki E, Birbilis M, Oikonomou E, et al. Diet quality of preschoolers in Greece based on the Healthy Eating Index: the GENESIS study. J Am Diet Assoc. 2009;109(4):616-23.

100. Woodruff SJ, Hanning RM. Associations between diet quality and physical activity measures among a southern Ontario regional sample of grade 6 students. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab. 2010;35(6):826-33.